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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

ELECTRICAL CONTRACTORS, INC.
Plaintiff,
V. No. 3:11€v-01449 JAM)

PIKE CO., Inc.,
Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION

This is a breaclof-contract dispute that stesfrom a comprehensiveenovation project
at the Kelly Middle School in Norwich, ConnecticBlaintiff Electrical Contractors, Inc.
(“ECI") was the project’s electrical subcontragtand defendant Pike Co., Inc. (“Pikatias the
project’s general contraato

Thedispute is about whether Pike shouldibble for more than $500,000 in cost
overruns that ECI incurred while rushing to complete its work on the project orAtc@ding
to ECI, Pike mismanaged the peaf, with the result that EGtould not imely complete its work
without bringing in dozens more electricians thanwhichit had planned and budgetdy/
contrast, Pike contends that ECI underbid the project in the first instance and;thighem
costs for ECI were the result of its errassessment of the projascheeds and/or its own
mismanagement of electrical workeassigned to work on the project. Pike also contends that
ECI failed to give adequat®tice of its claim and signdign waivers that precludenyliability
for ECI's claim.

The Court previously denied Pike’s motion for summary judgn@zeDoc. #49. The

matter proceeded @ bench trial over eight days during June, July, and August 2014, and | now
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issue my findings of fact and conclusions of law.

For multiple reasonset forth belw, | conclude that that there is no merit to ECI's

breachof-contract claimFirst, ECI's claim is barred by the terms of its contract with Pike

because ECI failetb furnish timely written notice of its claim. Second, ECI's clasnbarredoy

ECI's execution ofien waives that released Pike from liability fanyclaim. Third, ECI has

otherwise failed on the merits to show that Pike breached the contract or thegastydaused

the damages that ECI claindsidgment shall enter for Pike.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court heard trial testimony over a period of eight days from the following

individuals:

Mark Madore ECI’s senior estimator during thoed for the Kelly Middle School

projec);

Clifford Clauson(ECI’s senior project manager duringetKelly Middle School project);
Stephane Mathie(ECI’s field foreman for the Kelly Middle School project);

William Joseph Flynn, J(Vice President of ECJ)

David Caprio(chief estimator for electrical contracting jobs at the Chappy Corporation
and oneof Pike’s expert witnessgs

Ed Oloff (Pike’s superintendent for the Kelly Middle School project);

Vincent Savindpresident and owner of Action Air Systems, which provided the HVAC
and plumbing athe Kelly Middle School project);

Carroll James Lawler, J(architect of the Kelly Middle School project);

Dennis O’Neill(construction consultant at Beacon Consulting Group and oR&kefs
expert witnessés

Richard Merkhofefpresident and construction consultant at Wagner Hohns Ingils and
one ofPike’s expert witnessgs

William Lynch (construction administrator for Van Zelm Engineering, which designed
the HVAC, plumbing, and heating/electric systems in the Kelly Middle Schooldgproje
testifying by videotaped depositigmayed during the trigland

Melvin L. StrausgPike’s project manager for the Kelly Middle School projéct).

Based on the testimony and documentary evidence presented at trial, the Coutheakes

! The Court also accepted into evidence the videotaped deposition of Gary Suhoipsite representative

of the City of Norwich during the Kelly Middle School project, and thesiaipt of that depositiorSeeDef.’s Exs.
659, 660.



following findings of fact.
In 2008, Pike contraet with the City of Norwich to serve as a construction manager for
a project to make additions and renovations to Kelly Middle Sclratlbwing a competitive
bidding processECI was hired as the electrical subcontractor for the prdg€ttand Pike
entera into a subcontract whereBCI agreed to complete the electrical work for $3,637,445.
Although ECI won the contract through a competitive bidding process, it had not been
the lowest bidder. Another company, Ferguson Electric, had entered a bid apfelyxima
$60,000 lower than the bid of EEBut Pikedid not accept thEemuson bid. Pike’'project
manager for the Kelly Middle School projeMelvin Strauss, testified credibly at trial that
Ferguson was disqualifieas a result opoor references and anfavorable intenew, in which
Pike worried that it “[d]idn’t even appear that [Ferguson] looked at the bid docunbeatstise
its response to many of the intervigwestions was simply “whateveron the bid documents.”
Tr. at 1539-41Similarly, Pike’s superintendent for the project, Ed Oloff, testified crgdizt
Ferguson was disqualified because of poor references andakfjunderstanding of the
project’—specifically the portion of thproject’s scheduleeferred to as Phageld. at 924
The subcontract between ECI and Pike included a number of provisions pertathieg to
protocol for changes to and affecting subcontractors’ work, including the follgwawsions:
3.1 Time and Schedule  Time is of the essence as teetprosecution of the
Subcontractor's Work. If requested, the Subcontractor shall provide the Contractor
with scheduling information and Subcontractor’'s proposed schedule for the
Subcontract Work. The Contractor may prepare the Schedule of Work for the
Prgect and Contractor shall have the right to modify the construction schedule, to
suspend, delay or accelerate, in whole or in part, the commenicenexecution

of Subcontractor’'s Work, or vary the sequence thereof, without compensation to
the Subcontractor. In the event such a delay or suspension extends the overall

2T&T Electrical Corractors, Inc. had also entered a much lower bid, but the parties agree thabi& T
was in error and was subsequently withdrawn.

% Fergusorunsuccessfully sued, allegitigat its disqualification was unjustifieBl.’s Ex. 8;Ferguson
Mech., Inc. v. Cit of Norwich 2010 WL 303843%Conn. Super. Ct. 2010).
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time of performance, the time for the Subcontractor to complete its work shall be
extended. The Subcontractor shall commence the Subcontsaétork promptly

upon notice to proceed. The Subtractor shll prosecute the Subcontracwr’
Work in a prompt and diligent manner as directed by the Contractor and in
accordance with the Schedule of Work without hindering the Work of the
Contractor or any other subcontractor. The Subcontractor mioaked with the
Subcontractos Work, making all necessary deliveries, so as to make timely
progress and complete the same in accordance with the Fydgamtiedule of
Work and as directed by the Contractor. Whenever, in the Contractor’s opinion,
the Subcomtictor's Work falls behind, the Subcontractor shall increase its labor
force and/or provide overtime, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work, and shall
have each of its subcontractors do likewise, all at no additional cost to or
compensation from the Conttac.

3.4 Delays  Should the Subcontractor be delayed by the act or omission of the
Contractor or by any other contractor or subcontractor on the Project,amyby
cause beyond the Subcontractor’s control and not due to any fault, act sioamis

on its part, then the time for completion of the work shall be extended for a period
equivalent to the time lost by reason of any of the aforesaid causes, asramterm

by the Contractor, and Subcontractor agrees to make no claim for damages for
delayin the performance of this Subcontract occasioned by any act or omission to
act of the Contractor or any of its representatives.

5.1 Change Orders and Directives  The Contractor and Subcontractor agree
that the Contractor may add to or deduct from the amount of Subcontract Work
covered by this Subcontract Agreement, and any changes so made to the
Subcontract Work, or any other parts of this Subcontract Agreement, shall be by a
written Change OrdeA Change Order is a written instrument prepared by the
Contractor and signed by the Subcontractor stating their agreement upon the
change in the Subcontract Work and the value of such change. In addition, the
Subcontractor agrees to proceed with the SubconWack, as changed, when so
directed in writing by a Construction Change Directive issued by the Cuamtrac

so as not to delay thprogress of the Subcontract Work and pendamy
determination of the value. If the Contractor requests a proposal of cost for
change, the Subcontractor shall promptly comply with such request. Contractor
shall not make changes in Subcontract Work, whether additions, deletions or
other revisions in any manner except by writ@mange Order or Construction
Change Directive. Althanges in the Subcontract Work made by Change Order or
Construction Change Directive shall be deemed a part of the Subcontract Work
and shall be performed and furnished in strict accordance with all terms and
conditions of this Subcontract Agreement and the Subcontract Documents,
including the current Schedule of Work.



5.2 Compensation Subcontractor shall not be entitled to receive extra
compensation for extra work or materials or changes of any kind regardless of
whether the same was ordered by thent€@actor or any of his representatives
unless a Change Order or Construction Change Directive has been issued in
writing by the Contractor. If extra work was ordered by the Contratdrthe
Subcontractor performed same but did not receive a written Change Order or
Construction Change Directive, the Subcontractor shall be deemed to have
waived any claim for extra compensation therefore, regardless of angnuaitt
verbal protests or claims by the Subcontractor. The Subcontractor shall be
responsible for any costs incurred by the Contractor for any changes of any kind
made by the Subcontractor that increase the cost of the Work for either the
Contractor or other subcontractors when the Subcontractor proceeds with such
changes without a written Change Order or Construction Change Directive.

5.3 Notice of Claims  The Subcontractor agrees thet claim for additional
services rendered or materials furnished by the Subcontractor to the Contractor
shall be valid unless notice is given to the Contractor prior to the furnishing of the
services or material or unless written notice of the claim therés given by the
Subcontractor to the Contractor not later than the last day of the calendar month
following that in which the claim originated, with the amount of the claim to be
given in writing by the Subcontractor as soon as practicable

5.4 Claims If the Subcontractor believes that any order, directive or condition,
other than as provided for in Paragraph[3Jhknown Conditions”] entitles him

to extra compensation or an extension of time, he shall give the Contractor written
notice of hisclaim not later than three (3) days after the occurrence of the event
giving rise to the claim and shall, as soon as practicable, furnish suffacts i
support of his position as may be necessary for a decision. Any claim by the
Subcontractor for exd compensation or an extension of time not so made shall be
waived, and the Subcontractor shall not be entitled to any extra compensation or
extension of time as a result thereof. The Contractor shall not be obligated or
liable to the Subcontractor for, and the Subcontractor hereby expressly waives an
claims against the Contractor on account of, any damages, costs or expenses of
any nature which the Subcontractor or its subcontractors may incur adtafes

any delays, interferences, suspensions, changes in sequence or the likg, arisi
from or out of any act or omission of, or attributable to, the Contractor, it being
understood and agreed that the Subcontracsmie and exclusive remedy in such
event shall be an extension of time, but only in accordance with the provisions of
this Subcontract Agreement.

5.5 Impact of Changes The Subcontractor shall review each modification
issued by the Owner and advise the Contractor in writing within three (3) days of
notice of the modification as to the impac any, on the Subcontractor’'s Work,
including any adjustment in Subcontractor time or price.



Pl.’s Ex. 13at7-8, 10

Pikeprepared a “Critical Path Milestoh€ CPM”) schedule to guide the course of the
projectand specify the sequencing of mukigulzontractor activitiesSeePl.’s Ex. 1 at 31, 59—
103. The project’s work was to be completed in a number of phases, corresponding with the
termtime and vacation schedule of the school. The dispute in this case revolves around Phase 3
of the project, during which the majority BCI’s electrical work was to take place. Phase 3 was
scheduled to occur during ten weeks of the school’s summer recess in 2010, and included the
renovation of many of the school’s classrooms and common ateascheduling foPhase 3
was tight, and Pike was determined to complete it on time in order for the schooksspa
available for the schoolchildren by the start of the next academicBeang Phase 3, multiple
trades would be working concurrently, including pldiis electrical workers. The schedule for
this complex and fast-paced portion of the project was discussed at length duang a pr
construction conference between the parties in late, Z0@PECI assured Pike that it had
properly estimated and planned for its Phase 3 work.

ECIl was able tbeginsome ofits Phase 3 workell before the original schedule
specified This was noted in the credible testimony of E@t®man, Stephane Mathieand
Pike’s superintendent, Edloff. SeeTr. at495-96 (MathiedestimonythatPhase 3 work was
scheduled for the summer but that ECI began some of the work ahead afstieagly as Apr)l
911 Qloff testimonythat some electrical work for Phase 3 began three months early, and that
“[w]e were ahead of schedule” and “[w]e were doing work eqri014—15 Qloff testimony
that ECI had starteids overhead rougim work in onePhase 3 area and started plaartgird

shift crew to work on the area approximately three e arlier than the schedule indicated, in

* A letter sent from Strauss to ECI in December 2009, which attachedhtbergract agreement, included
the following language: “Compensation for extra work will not be @seed without an executedrphase order or
change order, prior to commencing work.” Pl.’s Ex. 12 at 18.
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an effot to keep personnel busy rather than lay them off).

The early Phase 3 work additionally verified by a comparison of Mathigdaily
reports, which documented waitkat ECI was doing each day of the project, and the contract
schedule for each type wafork. ComparePl.’s Ex. 17 at 50 (on May 19, 201BCI| was
installing feeders in the locker areajth Def.’s Ex. 645 aB (electrical activitywvasscheduled to
begin in the locker araa July); comparePl.’s Ex. 17 at 60 (On June 3, 2010, ECI installed
“guts” in multiple electric rooms)yith Def.’s Ex. 645 at 3, 4, @ctivity in all of theelectric
roomswasnot scheduled to begin until Juuly

Nevertheless, when Phase 3 began in earnest on June 28, 2010niegrsigmificant
difficulties for ECI. Mathieu had anticipated that this phase of work would be “chaotic” and that
“[tIhere would be a lot of people everywhere trying to perform all their work #lleasame
time,” and he agreed at trial that he had no surprise about that aspect of the job. Tr. at 629. But
he was nevertheless overwhelmed by it when it began, and noted that “[i]t wascaddhan
[he] originally expected. Everything was all compresséad.

Although an addendum tbe contract schedule had noted that “Phase 3 is a dayen
schedule” and that “[s]chedule activities may require two shifts to commesxpedule,Def.’s
Ex. 503at 2 EClI initially did not believe that a-day workveek wasequired.SeeTr. at 154-55
(ECI's bid estimatorMark Madore, “didn’tfeel that wewere going to be required to do a seven-
daysa-week schedulé and therefore did not factor into ECI's bid the additional premium cost
of laborfor such aschedulg 368 (ECl'sproject manageflifford Clauson did not believehe
contract schedule add#um’s language required a 7-day workweek, but that it was up to the
subcontractor to do so if needed

But during Phase 3, ECI workers did ultimately need to work at least six dagska



and, for most weeks, seven daysweek.Seed. at 369. And although when preparing the
project bidfor ECI, Madorehad anticipated that there would be ECI crews of 30 to 35
electricians during the whole summier. at 111-12Clifford Clauson(ECI’s onsite project
managerjestified thatas of July there werenly about 17 to 18 electriciarper crewld. at 274.

Oloff and others noteéarly in Phase that ECI's manpower was inadequate for the
work. Oloff testified credibly that ECI's insufficient manpower caused 6G4ll behind in its
work. Id. at 919-20Mel StrausgPike’s project manager) alsgreedld. at 1582. Even
Mathieu—ECI’'s own foreman—dstified that ive needed more manpowerd. at 534, and that
ECI was not able to do all the work availkalo it,id. at 620° Multiple parties testifiectredibly
thatPikerepeatedlyold ECI that it needed more manpowkt. at535 (Mathieu testimony that
he and Oloff spoke daily aridatOloff “would always be telling me more manpower”), 620
(Mathieu testimonyhat Oloff had told him that ECI did not have the manpower to do all the
work that was availabley46 Flynn testimony thatMr. Oloff and Mr. Strauss never thought
ECI had enough men on the job”), 9ZAdff testimony thahe raised the manpower issue with
ECI and “[t]hey were working on getting more people”), 1582duss testimony that he and
Oloff informed Clauson that “there didn’t seem to be sufficient manpower to completerthe w
that was available?)

But it was not purely a matter of more manpower. William Lynch, who was onghe as
contract administrator for the company that designed the HVAC and elesteosy testified
crediblythrough his videotaped deposition that ECI's manpasgresncluded large
inefficiencies, due to a lack of leadership and the fact that the sebdhdlectricians were

unable to be very productive because the electrical warehouses were closed by tigeséaneni

® After having so testified, Mathieu later also testified, inconsistentiy,Hé did believe ECI was able to
do all the work available to it at this stage of Phase 3, ancatherowledged that he had done no analysis to
determine whether that was true. Tr. at 621.



of their shift.SeeDef.’s Ex. 661 (Lynch Dep.at 14.
Oloff similarly testifiedaboutECI's inefficiencies:
[T]here was inefficiencies of people waiting around for a foreman telling them
what to do or someone bringing them material. | recall they added a few
apprentices at some point to try to chase material and whatreyt.didn’t want
journeymen chasing material. And the journeymen would sit around waiting for
someone to bring them material. So, you know, there was a lot of ineffidencie
on that part. | feel they could have had more supervision running areas for certa
guys to make sure that those guys had what they[edednd they were
productive.
Tr. at 921-22Furthermore, Oloff testified, “[t]he transitions [between shifts] were
uncoordinated. The new guys would come in, they wouldn’t know where they’re going. And
supervisors had to get to them to find out what happened to them during the day and then get
going in the night.’Id. at 1018. Oloff testified that he observed such inefficiencies in early and
mid-July, but they weredetting bettertoward the end of Julyd. at 1022-23.
At some point irPhase 3, ibecameclear that ECI was falling behirfdLynch testified

that he could personally observe ECI falling behind, and that Mathieu discussed wikiahim

® The testimony of ECI's witnesses was inconsistent with regard fartigeess of the project in the first
portion of Phase 3. Flynn testified that Clauson told ‘inearly July that things weren't progressighe project
wasn'’t progressing, certain activities were behind and weren’tgssing, Tr. at 640, and that as a result he
(Flynn) visited the site around the second week of July and observedahmbgct “appeared to be running behind
in a number of areas. . . . If you went to the schedule, there was a sequémanigtbat was not being followed.”
Id. at 656-51. In contrast, Mathieu testified that Phase 3 began “getting throvanitifé” “about hree weeks into
it,” which would be approximately July 18, 2010, and that before, Pleaise 3 work was tracking the schedB8lkee
Tr. at §2—-@B. Mathieu’s daily job reports for this portion of Phase 3, howeegeal a number of complaints with
the progress of other trades, which he believed were holding up E@ksfrom the very beginning of Phase 3. For
example, on June 28, the first day of Phase 3, he wrote that “Steel | beaowdtfg units still need to be finished
for rooftops also on the nortlide of the gym.” Pl.’s Ex. 17 at 77; Tr. at 516. The next day, he nofiéd Ifgs of
steel and ductwork and demo that needs to get done.” Pl.’s Ex. 17 at 7&T¥. &n July 21, he stated that “[a]ll
trades are behind in all areas.” Pl.’'s Ex.atB4; Tr. at 539. Mathieu revealed in his testimony that he did not look at
the schedule when writing his daily job reports. Tr. at 612, 614 eRdth based his testimony on the discussions at
the weekly foreman meetings, from which he believed thaa¢heal work on the project varield. at 614.But on
cross examination, he conceded that he had no idea whether any update@schiethised in those meetings had
accelerated dates, delayed dates, or a mixtlirat 616. As a result, whether Mathieelieved the project
proceeded in line with the weekly discussions says little abouhettte project proceeded according to an
appropriate—or the actual-schedule. Oloff testified that he “[didn’t] thirktephangMathieu] spent a lot of time
looking & the schedule. | think Stephane spent a lot of time working where he theugbtild.”ld. at 1121. In
short, | find the testimony of Flynn and Mathieu of limited value iraeining whether ECI’'s or others’ work in
the first portion of Phase 3 occurradcording to the original or updated schedules.
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“[h]e was having a hard time keeping up with everybody during the project inagemeef.’s
Ex. 661 at 32. Hesitantly, Lynch stated: “You know, it wasil don’t mean to put a bad thing —
| know it’s the court, but in probably the first half, thigearters of the project they were
probably a couple of steps behind across the boktdat 34.

Eventually, a meetingetween the project principals of ECI and Pike took place on July
21, 2010, the events of which are hotly contested. For the sake of thorouglnkssalk
through the account of each person who was present at thegnPéteis Strausand Oloff,
and ECI's Clauson, Mhieu, and Flynn.

Strauss Notes and Testimon$trauss’s account comes via his trial testimony and the
only contemporaneous written account of the meeting—Strauss’s handwritten nbtes of t
meeting (Def.’s Ex. 537). The notes indicate that the parties discussed theftinoagpleting
severalareas of the projecafd noted=ClI's concerns regarding steel work that was running late
and impacting ECI’s ability to work), security, HVAC, the fire alarm systine kitchen, and a
generatorSeeDef.’s Ex. 537. The notes include aahcthart with columns titled &,” 282,
and “F2” and beneath each thifose headings the numbers “20,” “3,” and “&&pectively,
which refer to the number of people in EAlist-, second-, and thirdhift crews Ibid.; Tr. at
1548.

Strauss testified that Clauson intuagd Flynn early in the meetiag “the gentleman
that can get us the manpowes need and finish the project. Increase our manpower, he’s the
guy | need on my side to get the manpower.” Tr. at 1544. ECI brought uenges the workers
were facing with other trades, and the parties discussed the schedule anchth@egbwer

needed to meet the scheduled. ECI requested additional time at the meeting to complete its
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work, butPike deniedhe request, explaing that the school must open on tirhe.

According to Strauss, Oloff explainéal EClthat there could be no “Plan B,” because
school needed to opelal. at 1515. He further testified thahere was nothing discussed about
claims for additional monies, anldatPike gave no change order directivesither verbally at
the meeting or in writing laterd. at 1548—49Nor was it an acrimonious event, merely “a
rundown of what they needed from us and what we needed from them with regards to the
schedule.’bid.

Oloff's TestimonyOloff testified thathe meeting was a typical “issues meeting” to work
through the remainder of the project’'s work, and that there wasger orcontentiousnessd.
at 937-38. He did not recall any request made for an extension of time, but did recafihatting
there could be no “Plan B” and that the job needed to finish so that the school could open on
time. Id. at 938-39He testified that he describdlde need for ECI tancrease its manpower,
including increasing the number of foremen to make sure the electricianprvduetive. Oloff
was clear in his testimortiat no ECI representative mentioned a claim or requested extra
compensation, anthatthere was no unprofessional or derogative conversation at anyldoint.
at 94041. He left the meeting believing they hgddmg up with a game plan and . . . were
going to go execute it and finish the job on timd."at 942.

Clauson’s Testimon§CI's representativgeat themeeting saw it quitdifferently.

Clauson saw the purpose of the meeting as “to ask for an extension ofitina¢.296. But

" Even before the July 21 meeting, Pike had been consulting with the CitywfdNdo discuss extending
the scheduled time to complete the art room, storage room, and locker roorSeegasat 1592. This was due to
structural steel issues in the art room and locker room that affected thefwaaky subcontractors, including ECI.
Id. at 159293. When Pike opened up the art room and locker rooms, the steel was diffenethie plan had
shown, so Pike needed the architect to redesign that part of the plan and the sta@ractor to fabricate and
install the steel differently than fitad expectedseeid. at 908. Ultimately, Pike requested an extension of time from
the city for those areald. at 1593. The city granted Pike’s request, and in the beginning of August 20640, P
informed all subcontractors of the extended schedule for those areas.
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according to his testimony, Oloff and Strauss deniedrdptest, emphasizingatECI needed
to finishits work before the sabol year begaandthat there could be no “Plan BSee dl. at
297. Clauson testified as well that Strauss told ECI to increase its manpoweg:ifiamore
men, do whatever you got to do to get the job dolge 4t 299. According to Clauson, Flynn
statedthat if ECI's costs “went over” as a result of bringing in more men to work,woeyd
“be looking for payment.td. at 303. Clauson could not recall Pike’s response to that statement,
but testified that Strauss threatened ECI with liquidated damagfes @vent that they did not
complete the jold. at 303-04.

Mathieu’s TestimonyMathieutestified about the meeting as weéhough he noted that
he was fielding phone calls during the meeting and therefore “wasn’t paying @tynedcent
attention” Id. at 538.He described needing more manpower and needing other trades to
complete work in certain areas for ECI to do its work. According to Mathieu, tleesreame
discussion of a time extension, but Pike was unwilling to provide an extension and instead told
ECI to “get more men.Id. at 537. Like the other participants at the meeting, Mathieu also
remembers aommentirom one of the Pike representatithat there was “no Plan Bld. at
538. Mathieu did not &ll a discussion about the financial implications of ECI increasing its
manpower, only that “they told us we owned it per our contract. We owned having guye there
do this work, we bought it in our contracligid. Mathieu did not testify thany claims were
made or changerder directives giverOn cross examination, Mathieu stated that he left that
meeting with the understanding that Pike was not going to give ECI any extiggyrfor the
added manpoweld. at 619-20.

Flynn’s TestimonyFinally, Flynntestifiedas wellabout the July 21 meeting. According

to his testimony, Mathieu and Clauson described in detail the problems that thesréelt
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holding back ECI’s progress, and Oloff and Strauss agreed that those probleatk lexist
655-56. But'the conversation was that ultimately we needed an extension of tothat’656.
Specifically, at aninimum, “we neefed] a four-week extension of timeld. at 660. According
to Flynn, Strauss made clear that “[t]here will be no extensions of time &seR3)’ because the
townwould never approve such an extensangthe school needed to open on tirted. In
response to Flynn's query about a “Plan B,” Strallegedly stated that “[t]here is no Plan B.
You got to do whatever you got to do, get as many men here as you need to get here, and you
need to meet the deadlinéd’ at 661.

Flynn testified that, in responge this insistence that ECI meet the deadlireetold Pike
that there would be financial consequences and that if ECI were harmed by thsesguences it
would be seeking compensation from Pikk at 662.To that, according to Flynn, Oloff and
Strauss laughed at him and told him that they had bought from ECI through tlveintsatt the
right to have ECI do whatever it needed to do tetite deadlineld. at 662—63. One of the Pike
representatives allegedigid ECI that ifECI did not “gear up” and instead delayed the opening
of the school, there would be liquidated damages assessed agairdt B(363.

| credit the testimony of all of the meeting’s participdotsthe fact that at the meeting,
ECTI's representatives told Oloff and Stratisat ECI would like more time to completts Phase
3 work, and that Pike’s representatives were adamant that the school needed to open on time
thereby denying any request for an extension of fiiferther credit the testimony of all of the
individuals that Strauss and/or Oloff told ECI to increase its manp@sehey had been saying

before the meetingnd as Mathieu and Clauson testified ECI needed)tarabto do whatever

8 Although Oloff testified that he did not recall any request for an exterditime, he alo testified
confidently that he and Strauss told ECI that there could be no extensit?lgn B”) and that the school needed to
open on time. | infer, therefore, that he recalled the conversation about tHemeede time just as the others did,
but merely did not consider that part of the conversation to constitute an aguast on ECI’s part.
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else was necessary to ensure that it caught up on its work.

On the other hand,do not credit the testimonyf €lauson and Flynn that Flynn stated
that ECI would seek compensation fbe costs of itedditional manpeer. First, that testimony
is at odds wittithe credibldgestimony of Oloff and Straussd finds no support in the
contemporaneous handwritten notes taken by Straufsct, those notes referencenpower
only via the small crevgize chartwhile the na¢sgo into much more depth with regard to the
meeting’sother discussion items pertaining to the work itssifjgesting that the manpower
issue did not constitute a hugely significant portion of the discussion. Second, everE@t'e of
own witnessMathieu did not testify that Flynn made any such statement at the méékmicd,
while Clausortestified that heecalledFlynn’s alleged statemeabout seeking compensation,
he could not remember Pike’s response toaitetrious memory lapse farresponséhat
according td~lynn, allegedly consistedf derisive laughter.

Finally, the possibility of a claim against Pike for extra compensdt@s not appear to
have been spoken of again by anyone at ECI orfBrkeeveral weekantil September 2010; nor
does the claim itself appeiaranywritten documentatioby ECI or Pike until October 201Q.
was not mentioned in Pike's next monthly report to the ovasmDef.’s Ex. 536 or either
party’s notes of other meetings—includinghaeting held just a weefter. SeeDef.’s Ex. 538;

Tr. at 1550-51. The parties presentecnmilsfrom the days following this meeting in which

° To be sure, on cross examination of Mathieu, Pike’s counsel referenced @stdtg®lynn about costs:

Q. But wete there now. That's wh#ttike said. e said it was ECI's— by the way, this is in

response to Mr. Flynn saying telling him he'sgoing to add more manpower, it's going to cost

you, it may cost you something. Pikaids Do what you have to do, it's EGl'contractual

requirement to do what you have to do to get the job done. Correct?

A. Yes.
Tr. at 619. It is not clear whether Mathieu’s “yes” was in response to what tisti@quasserted Pike said, what the
guestion asserted Flynn said, or both. | infer that Mathieu’s “yes’pwamsrily aresponse to the assertion about
Pike’s statements, becaud® Mathieu had initially testified credibly that he could not recall discussioatdbe
financial implications of more manpowéd, at 538;(2) the questions immediately preceding the questicnding
the reference to Flynn were focused entirely on what Pike’s represestsdideat the meetingl. at 618-19; and
(3) Mathieu also testified that he left the meeting not thinking that Piké&vwoovide ECI extra money for added
manpowerjd. at 620.
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the claim—or even the supposedly contentious meeting—was discus4eie. the parties
entered into a number of change orders over the course of the project, including one in August
2010 6eePl.’s Ex. 44at 2(noting that ECI “will require a 0 day extension of time to complete
this work™)), no change order was ey@oposed with regard to any claim for extra compensation
as a result of €l increasing its manpower for Phase 3 after the July 21 meeting.

ECI never alerted Pike to ke¢rack of ECI's additional man-hours for the purpose of
any future claim. Nodid ECI even have Mathieu keep track of thdiadnal manhours
incurred becausef problems onsite (such as the steel, masonry, and demolition i€<Sues E

argues delayed its work), for the purpose of calculating a future Gaieir. at 404—06° And

2 0n cross examination, Clauson testified as follows:

Q. So knowing that— so you knew July 21 you were going to probably file a claim, correct?
A. Correct.

Q. But you didnt actually tell Pike that, did you?

A. We told them if there was additioradst, that we were going to claim those costs.

Q. Did you follow up with a writing on that?

A. We did not.

Q. | take it, of course, since you knew you might have to have a clgiou ifvere going to have
additional costs, you certainly alerted Pike thatytehould also keep track of the additional man
hours and the impact so they could make sure and verify that your ctaiid e correct? That
would be the fair thing to do, correct?

A. We did not do that, no.

Q. No. So Pike didt’have the benefit, yowould say, of being able to track whatever additional
man hours you were having because of these impacts that you discusset? cor

A. They received certified payrolls every week.

Q. And those certified payrolls specifically identified what work Wwesg done because of what
impact, correct?

A. No, it identifies how many men we had on the job.

Q. Okay. So Pike just knew you had more men on the job; is that right? yethaestimony?

A. Well, they knew where we were working. They had our daily reortsthey had their own
people on site.

Q. So it’s your position Pike knew you had a claim because you had more men wankihg
job?

A. We told them we were going to file a claim if we were harmed by thegtro

Q. So | take it that after that, you elited Mr. Mathieu to do his daily reports or do something else
to make sure that he tracked the additional man hours as it relatesvti tvas specifically
impacted by the steel, the mason, the demo, and thereafter so that you I cear
documentabn of exactly what that claim was going to be, because you knew Julgl\2vere
going to nake a claim; you did that, didnyou?

A. No.

Q. | think your testimony is that you told Mel Strauss and Ed Oloff ioh-Beptember that ECI
was going to file a clamn, correct?

A. Correct, somewhere around there.
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even when EI notified Pike verbally in mieptember and in writing in Octoberitsf claim, it
did not mention the July 21 meeting at all, nor did it reference any demand by PHE@I fto
increase its manpower or any notice by ECI that it would seek compensation fortshe cos
associated with that increase

In short,I find that at he July 2Imeeting, Pike denied any request for a time extension
and instructed ECI to increase its manpower (as it had been instructing ECI tsdméotime)
or to do whatever else was necessary to complete its work onltimréher findthat ECI didnot
notify Pikeat the July 21 meeting of any intention to file a claim for extra compensation
resulting from increasing its manpower.

Nor could it have come as a surprise to ECI that it had not committed enough electricians
to work on the jobLong befoe the July 21 meetingCl fearedthat it wouldlose money on the
Kelly Middle School project because it had underbid the job. As early as January 2010, an ECI
internaljob performance review form noted that the bid had neglected to include any project
marager time and projected a profit margin loss of over $55,000s Ex. 35 at 4 Tr. at 185.

By mid-March 2010, the projected loss was nearly $200,000. Pl.’s Ex. 35 at 7. And by mid-
August 2010, the projected loss was over $700,0@t 17.

Clauson pepared thesmternal reviewforms, and on the mid-Augustviewform he
caustically criticized ECI’s bidding department for underbidding what wesssary for the job:

Someone neadto STOP the estimating department from ignoring the project

schedules at bid time and providing an estimate that’s going to cost thengompa

huge amounts of loss. The project will continue to show larger losses. 3 %2 more
phases to go and it's not goingget betterThe place is a zoo. Send more help.

Q. I'm sorry?
A. Yes, sir, midSeptember.
Q. And Exhibit 36, which is the October 1, 2010 letter, that letter is thenfiitten notice of any
claim that ECI was making with respect to impacts in Phase 3?
A. Correct.
Tr. at 404-06.
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Ibid. Clauson also noted: “[f]ixture labor units way way off what it's taking in tekel fi and
“[a] lot of time wasted due to lack of supervision. . . now being corredieid.”

At trial, Clausontestified that this report amounted to merepeasonal meltdown on his
part. Tr. at 398. But during this same period, ECI was abuzz with “questions that had arisen
relative to the construction schedule and our bid from upper management,” during mieich ti
there were irhouse discussions regarding the foremen and manpower requireicheaits2,
discussions thafm]ost definitely” included Clauson’s job performance review foridsat 96.

Ultimately, ECI increased its manpower considerdblythe renainder of July and
August!! The projectvascompletedbn time with the exception of certa@reas for which
schedule relief had been provided, and the school opened on time.

In mid-September 2010, Clauson called Strauss to inform him that ECI intenchedkéo
aclaim for the increasedstsit incurred during Phase Bl. at 15612 Clauson testified that he
decided to wait until mibeptembebecause ECwvas putting together its cost figuréd. at
309-10. The call lasted approximately five minutes, and Strauss informed Claustie that
needed to comply with the contract documerits.’at 1562. Prior to the phone call, according to

Strauss’s credible testimonyike knew nothing about ECI's potential clailth. at 1559 During

™ Mathieu’s daily reports indicate that ECI's weekdagvesize increased to 45 men by eveek after the
July 21 meetinggeePl.’s Ex. 17 at 98), and gradually increased into August, peaking at 60 aistALg 18, and
19 (d. at 113, 115, 116), then tapering back down at the end of August dyn&eptember to the lowo-mid teens
(id. at 125-29), and finally down to 7 or fewer for the rest of Septemidea{ 136-47), andthen justa few crew
members for the remainder of the project in Octolokia 148-62). The weekend crews were much smaller than
the weekday crews during the heaviest periods of time, generallyenimglin the teens and twenties.

12 Clauson testified that he had actually met with both Strauss and Olb& middle of September to
notify Pike that ECI was preparing a claim. Tr. at 309. ECI apparently cesitiealt Strauss and Clauson spoke over
the phone, though it urges the Court to find that Strauss called Clausboufvaiting any evidence that supfso
that contentionpind that this conversation occurred after tapérson conversation to which Clauson testifieele
Doc. #1361 1 57. | reject Clauson’s testimony with regard to meeting the tveorBkesentatives to notify them of
ECI's upcoming @im, and instead credit the contrary testimony of Strauss taas@i called him over the phone.
Both parties in their podtial submissions also reference an email sent by @ldéte September noting that ECI
had “indicated to Mel [Strauss]” (not Oloff) “that they may have searéof claim.”SeePl.’s Ex. 57.It is not clear
that this email was admitted into evideratdrial, but | consider it as stipulated because of both parties’ reliance on
it.
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the phone call, neither party mentioned the July 21 meeting. At some point soon afterward,
Straus<alled theCity of Norwichand notified itof the possibility of an ECI claim.

Meanwhile, on September 17, 2010, ECI executed and submitted a lien waiver to Pike, as
it did regularly as part of its application fperiodic payments from Pike. Each application for
payment covered the payments owed for work performed through the previous month; for
example, the application submitted in August was for payments owed for work through July 31,
and the application submitted in September was for payments owed for work through3ugust
Seeid. at419, 421. Théien waiversin each applicatiogertified that ECI had fully paid its
employees and suppliers (arntthers such amdependent subcontractors, if relevdnt)work
during the relevant perio®eed. at 416-17. The September lien waiver, like the previous lien
waiverssubmitted by ECI to PikestatedECI'’s intent to release Pike from liability for anyaich:

[ECI], in consideration of the sum of [Amount] paid to it by Pike, the receipt of

which is hereby acknowledged, releases and forever discharges Pike and the

Owner. . . from any and all claims, causes of action, suits, debts, sums of money,

damages, laims and demands whatsoever in law or at equity and any other

obligations respecting payment for, upon and by reason of the materials or
equipment heretofore performed or furnished by [ECI] and its employees in
connection with the Project.

Pl’s Ex.49 & 6.

Lien waiversprior to the September lien waiver had included additicesdrvatiorof-
rightslanguagedhat had been addéy ECI:

Specifically excluded from this lien waiver and release ary amounts due for

retainage;any pending chege order prposals or requestgnd any pending

requests for equitable adjustment to the contract time or amount.
Id. at 2 (February 2010 lien waiver), 3 (May 2010 lien waiver), 4 (July 2010 lien waiver), 5

(August 2010 lien waiver). So did the lien waivers executed after SeptembeS2@ldat 7

(early November 2010 lien waiver), 8 (mid-November 2010 lien waiver), 9 (March 2011 lien
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waiver). But he September lien waiver omitted the additiamallusionarylanguagesee idat 6
apparently because E€Imply overlooked including itSeeTr. at 423.
On October 1, 2010, ECI sent Pike, via Strauss, a letter constituting its writtenafotic
a claim,which stated that ECI's work had bedglayedduring Phase 8ue toother
subcontractorsivork andunforeseen sues guch as the structursdeel delays)and that ECI’s
costshad increased as a result of Pike’s refusal to provide an extefsiore. SeePl.’s Ex. 36.
The letter included the following paragraph:
We completely understand that many of the issuat dhused ECI harm were
unexpected and that Pike made every effort to mitigate these delays and
interruptions. We respect and admire your efforts. However, when these aielays
interruptions did occur, a decision was made by the owner to compress the
schedle for ECI and the other project subs to complete their work in shorter
durations. No time extensions were granted or even considered. ECI was
consistently told by Pike that no time extensions would be granted for any reason
and that Pike expected ECI to take whatever steps were necessary to accelerate
the work and to overcome the delays or interruptions since the school had to open
on time. This decision places the burden of making ECI whole squarely on the
shoulders of Pike and the owner.
Id. at 3.The October 1 letter mad® mention of the July 21 meeting or any other prior
discussiorrelating to the claimThe letter stated that the direct cost to ECI for its additional
marnthours was $521,344.0lid. There was no explanation of tbalculation lehind that
figure.
Several weeks later, Strauss responded to ECI’s letter, stating that Bikejeeding
ECI's request for lack of proper written notice. Pl.’s Ex. 37 at 2. This respdeddi®ction
5.3 of the subcontract between ECI and Pike, which specifies how and when ECI was required t
provide notice of its claimgbid.

Another month later, in late November 2010, ECI responded by letedtengng Pike’s

rejection of its claimPl.’s Ex. 38First, ECI argued thatestion 5.3 was napplicable because
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the cost increases were not a result of actual changes in work (Article 5 ialafittzd
“Changes in the Work”), but rather a need to accelénat@orkto meet the dtedule. Instead,
ECI argued, Sections 3.1 and 3.4 of the paritontracapplied. Those sections provide that
under certain circumstances, the contractor was required to extend the tinselfooatractor’s
completion of work that was delayed through no fauthesubcontractor. ECI argued that
Pike’s rejectiorof ECI's July 21 request for an extension constituted a material breach@éArti
3 of the contracttifurther argued that, even ie&tion 5.3’s notification requirement applied,
Pike had prior notice of ECI's efforts to increase its crew size and adeatsravork because
Pike had ordered it. ECI additionablygued that ihad provided written notice no later than the
last day of the calendar month following that in which the claim originated, $eta@ claim
“originated,” in ECI's mind, in September 2010, “when ECI first became awatré thdact
would have a claim.Pl.’s Ex. 38 at 4.

Pike again rejected ECI's requeSeeP|.’s Ex. 39. Correspondence about the merits of
ECI's claim continued intdune 2011, but no resolution was reaclss#Pl.’s Exs. 40, 41, 42.

In August 2011, ECI filed suit against Pike in Connecticut Superior Court,rajlegi
breach of contract. The case was remawvediversity grounds ttederal court in September
2011, and in March 2013, the Couvti¢Chael P.Shea, J.) issued an oral ruling denyiikge’s
motion for summary judgent based largely on factual questions about whether Pike had,
through its conduct at the July 21 meeting, waived any written notice reqoiseiméehe
subcontragtas well as whether ECI hadovidedsufficient prior notice at that meeting of its
claims SeeDoc. #49. The case was transferred to my docket, and it proceeded to a bench trial
that was held over eight trial days during June, July, and August 2014.

DISCUSSION
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ECI bringsthis case for breach of contratitalleges that Pike breached the subcontract
by failing to follow theCPM schedul& preparedand refusing to provide any extension of time
to ECI for its Phase 3 work. ECI argues that Pike unlawfully refused tocettie enddate of
the schedule and required ECI to perform its Phase 3 work in a jumbled sequence over a much
shorter period of time, and that Pike is therefore ligtEECIfor the additional labor cosits
incurredduring Phase 3. ECI seeks damages of $567,268.70 plus interest, including prejudgment
interest.

ECI bears the burden to prove its breach of contract claim by a preponderance of the
evidenceSeeMadigan v. Hous. Auth. of Town of E. Hartfpddb6 Conn. App. 339, at *12,
A.3d -- (2015)Diesel Props S.R.L. v. Greystone BOeredit Il LLC, 631 F.3d 42, 52 (2d Cir.
2011). For the reasons below, | conclude that ECI has not met its burden.

1. ECI's Claim Is Barred for Failure to Comply with the Contract’'s Written Notiee
of-Claim Requirements

As an initial matter, | conclude on the basis of the full record presenteal &hat ECI's
claims are barred by the notio&claim requirement under Section 5.4 of the parties’ contract.
Section 5.4 of the subcontract provides:

54 Claims If the Subontractor believes that amyder, directive or condition

. . . entitles him to extra compensation or an extension of time, he shall give the
Contractor written notice of his claim not later than three (3) days after the
occurrence of the event giving rise to the claim and shall, as soon asgtlactic
furnish sufficient facts in support of his position as may be necessary for a
decision. Any claim by the Subcontractor for extra compensation or an extension
of time not so made shall be waived, and thec8atractor shall not be entitled to

any extra compensation or extension of time as a result thereof. The Caontracto
shall not be obligated or liable to the Subcontractor for, and the Subcontractor
hereby expressly waives any claims against the Contraot@coount of, any
damages, costs or expenses of any nature which the Subcontractor or its
subcontractors may incur as a result of any delays, interferences, suspensions
changes in sequence or the like, arising from or out of any act or omission of, or
attributable to the Contractor, it being understood and agreed that the
Subcontractos sole and exclusive remedy in such event shall be an extension of
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time, but only in accordance with the provisions of this Subcontract Agreement.
Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 10This provisionexpressly requires that any claimBgI for extra
compensation includeritten notice withinthreedays of the event giving rise to the claim. ECI
has argued repeatedly that it believes the July 21 meeting included an ordectoredior ECI
to increase its manpower, and it is undisputed that ab@fodethat meeting, Oloff had asked
at least encouraged Mathieu to increB€#’s manpower to stay on top of the schedule. There is
no evidence that ECI provided written notice of its claim within three days afuha2l
meeting, and certainly not within three days of the previous times Olof#aidieuthat ECI
needednore manpowr, evenassuminghose conversations woubtherwiseentitle ECI to extra
compensation for increasing the manpower.

To the extent that ECI argues that Mathieu’s daily repestsomitted to Pike with
Mathieu’scriticisms of project delaysprovided “ongoing, contemporaneous written notice” of
its claims seeDoc. #136 at 28, | do not agree for the same reason that the argument has been
rejected when raised by ECI in another recent lawsuit in this DiSeet Elec. Contractors, Inc.

v. Fid. & Deposit Co. oMd., 2015 WL 1444481, at *9 (D. Conn. 2015) (“The daily and weekly
reports prepared by EGl'supervisors, even if they did note certain inefficiencies, did not notify
[the contractor] that ECI was makinglaim against [the contractor]. Thus, contranEQGI's
assertions, they did not furnish [the contractor] with ‘actual knowledgelafra,” as opposed to
knowledge of conditions affecting coordination of work among subcontract&§&:I'waived

any claim gainst Pike under this section of the subcanira

13 Similarly, Section 5.5 of the subcontract requires a thtag written notice period for any changes made
by Pike that would impact ECI's work:

5.5 Impact of Changes The Subcontractor shall review each modification issued by the Owner

and advise the Contractor in writing within three (3) days of notice oftidification as to the

impad, if any, on the Subcontractor's Work, including any adjustment in Sula@bot time or

price.
Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 10ECI provided no such naotice in the days immediately after the July 2inmeebther
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When this case was before Judge Shea, he concludedsatriheary judgmendtage that
there was a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether Pike waived its retidCEslack
of written noticeby ordering ECI to perform additional work to meet the project dea@Biee.
Doc. #49 at 3. That finding relied dexler ConstrCo. v. Hous. Auth. of Norwicth44 Conn.
187, 193, 128 A.2d 540 (1956), in which the Connecticut Supreme Court held that directions by
a contractor “fothe performance of work not called for by the[ ] contract are necessarily and of
themselves a waiver of the requirement for written approgaée’ alsegan Constr. Corp. v.
Nor-West Builders, Inc274 F. Supp. 691, 698 n.25 (D. Conn. 1980y Langendorff v.
Riordan 147 Conn. 524, 528, 163 A.2d 100 (1960).

Now, however, in light of the full trial record, | conclude that ECI has not séuitden
to prove thaPike waivel its right to rely on thevritten notice requirente in the subcontract.

Waiver involves an intentional relinquishment of a known figtwaiver does

not have to be express, but may consist of acts or conduct from which waiver may

be implied[.] In other words, waiver may be inferred from the circumetariat

is reasonable to do [gspFurthermore, whether a waiver has occurred is a factual

question for the triefof fact].

RBC Nice Bearings, Inc. v. SKF USA, Jrig16 Conn. App. 288, 305, 78 A.3d 195 (2013)
(internal quotation marks and citation otad).

Pike’s conduct in instructing ECI to increase its manpower or do whateverasdse w
necessary to meet the project deadline did not constitute a waiver of its written no
requirement.The evidence adduced at trial did not estalihsi Pike intendd by its “more
manpower” refrain that ECI should put in “work not called for by the[ ] contraeg”Wexler

144 Conn. at 193, or that it constituted “changes in the work” or “extra work” beyond what ECI

was contractually obligated to providee Vo Langendorff147 Conn. at 528. The contract did

discussions about increasing ECI’s labor force.
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not specify the precise number of electrical workers ECI would have on the jobnomtier of
manthours ECI would put inn fact, ECI's estimatomassumea higher number of workers than
ECl originally assigned to the joompareTr. at111-12 Madore testimony thavhen bidding
the projecthe anticipated that there would be ECI crews of 30 to 35 electricians duringdlee w
summer)with Tr. at 274 (as of July, there were about 17 to 1&mdeans per crew)And the
subcontact itself specifically providethat “[w]henever, in the Contractor’s opinion, the
Subcontractor’'s Work falls behind, the Subcontractor shall increase its laborridfoe @ovide
overtime, Saturday, Sunday and/or holiday work, and shall have each of its subcordactors
likewise, all at no additional cost to or compensation from the Contractor.” Pl. .53t 7
(Section 3.1 of the subcontract

Thereis insufficient evidence for me to find that Pike intended ECI to perform additional
work and incur costs beyond those contemplated by the subcontract, and so intended te waive it
right to written notice of claims for those additional costth@r, | find that Pike intended only
to remind ECI of what Pike saw as ECI’s contractual obligageelr. at538 (Mathieu
testimonythat Pike “told usve owned it per our contract. We owned having guys there to do this
work, we bought it in our contract.”), 662—63 (Flynn testimtrat after he informed Pike that it
would seek compensation for any financial consequences it suffered, Oloff and Bughssl
and told him they had purchased through the subcontract the right to have ECI do whatever it
nealed to do to meet its deadlines

Moreover, the evidence presented of both Pike’s and ECI's conduct after the July 21
meeting does not suggest that Hikended the meeting to include a waiver of its right to expect
ECI to submit a written notice for any claims. As stated aboved lafina matter of fact that ECI

did not provde notice of a clainat the July 21 meeting. And after the meeting, neither party
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referenced ay potentialclaim again for several monthsitil a phone conversation in mid-
September 2010 and a written request in October 2010, and even then did not thedidy
21 meeting. No witness testified that Pike ever acknowledged even the possilaitityclaim
by ECI before it received actual notice of a claim in the fall of 2@h@ nanternalPike
documents reflect an awareness of a possible claim by ECI before then

Neither ECI nor Pike was monitoring ECI's additional Phase 3 labor hours in a
systematic manner for the purpose of a future cf&ihtor did ECI produce any documents
suggesting that it hachderstood Pike to have waived its written notice meguentor that
anyoneat EClbelieved Pike would be expecting ECI’s clamefore Clausors September
conversation with Strauss. On the contrary, when ECI was worried in August 2010 about its
likely financial loss, Clausoquite damningly wrote in a job performance report that ECI had
underbid the project and that there were supervision problems in the field; he made no mention
of any failures on Pike’s or any other subcontractor’s part, nor did he mentionyttzd Jul
meeting or any futurelaim Pike might expect from EStany of which he might be expected to
mention to shift some of the responsibility away from ECI for its large projéasses.

Thus, | cannot find that Pike intended by its July 21 instructions for ECI to comply wit
its contract obligations to waive the written notice provision in the subcortraberdore,
ECI's claim is barred by&tion 5.4 of the subcontract unless it can be saved by awcotitesct

provision:®

1 abor hours are synonymous with rdaours, and the terms are used interchangeatthjs ruling

15 The fact that the claim could not be quantified until the August labor enesaccounted for in
September does not relieZ€]1 from its obligation under Section 5.4 to provide written notice of thenchdthin
three days of the event (the “order, diiee, or condition”) giving rise to it; the section anticipated that possibility
and noted ECI’s obligation to later, “as soon as practicable, furafbient facts in support of his position as may
be necessary for a decision.” See Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 10.

'8 pike raises in its postial briefs strong arguments that the Court should reconsider its psenébance
onWexlerin its summary judgment finding of a factual question as to whe&ikerwaived its right to enforce the
notice provisions of the subotract.SeeDoc. #137 at 7377 (citing,inter alia, J. Wm. Foley, Inc. v. United
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Section 5.3 of the subcontragipears trovidetwo possible alternatives togstion
5.4’s threeday notice requirement
5.3 Notice of Claims The Subcontractor agrees that no claim for additional
services rendered or materials furnished by the Subcontractor to the Contractor
shall be valid unless notice is given to the Contractor prior to the furnishing of the
services or material or unless written notice of the claim therefore is given by the
Subcontractor to the Contractor not later than the last day of the calendar month
following that in which the clainoriginated, with the amount of the claim to be
given in writing by the Subcontractor as soon as practicable
Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 187 Under this provision, ECI could provide valid notice of a claim for its
additional manpowetosts eitheby giving notice prior to furnishing the additional manpower or
through written notice by the last day of the month after that in which the claim temjiha
have already found that ECI did not provide notice of its claim before increasingnpower
because no notiaa the claimwas providedintil fall 2010. And even iFlynn had made some
vague comrant about a possible future claim at the July 21 meeting, such a comment would be
insufficient to constitut@otice ofan actual claimSee Fid& Deposit Co. of Md.2015 WL
1444481, at *9 (“The letter . . . went further towards putting [the contractor] on notice that the
matter was headed towards a dispute or claim, but it was still only a generisgathatin the
future ECl wouldbe submitting claims for additionabmpensation, as distinguished from an
actual present claim.” (emphasis in original)).

Nor did ECI fulfill the second notice option in Section 5.3 through written notice “not

later than the last day of the calendar month following that in which the ctegmated,with

llluminating Co, 2013 WL 5422454 (Conn. Super. Ct. 2013) Btadco Elec. Contractors, Inc. v. Turner Canst
Co, 2009 WL 807469 (D. Conn. 2009)); Doc. #139 atZB(notingthat Wexlerdealt with additionalvork, not
additional labor hours to accomplish the work set out in the contracthanthe instant subcontract included
provisions thaVexlercontract did not and which were designed to preveniteelerconfusion fran arising).
Because | find that ECI has not established any waiver by Pike ofiite nequirement, | need not reexamine
whether such a waiver undéfexlerwould have been impossible in this case.

Yt is true, as the Court noted in #ismmary judgmentling, that ®ctions 5.3 and 5.4 seem unlikely to
apply together, as the sum of the two sections provides three diffete requirementsSeeDoc. #49 at 11. The
contract isarguablyambiguous in that regard. However, the Court need not attemsoieaehe ambiguity because
ECI failed to provide notice of its claim under the requirements of eitobdose
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the amount of the claim to be given in writing by the Subcontractor as soon asaptatifee
Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 10. Although ECI arguadone of its earlylaim letters to Pike that it believed its
claim originated in September 2010, “when ECI first became aware that it indalt have a
claim;” Pl.’s Ex. 38 at 4, ECI cannot credilbdygueboth that it providedral notice of aclaim in
July 2010 and that it did not know it would have a claim until September 2010. It cannot be
seriously disputed that any claim to additional compensation originated inviely,ECI
increased its labor force to comply with Pike’s instructions and ensure that the paygd be
completed on time. This means that ECI was required to provide written noticelaintdg
the last day of August and to provide the amount of the claim as soon as practtealvizraf
ECI provided no written notice of any sort until October, overoath laterl therefore find hat
ECI's claims are barred both bg&ion 5.3andSection 5.4 of the subcontract, for failure to
provide timely notice of its clairft

2. ECI's Claim s Barred bythe August andSeptember 2010ien Waivels

Because ECI madw®o claim for its additional labor costs until October 1, 2010, its claim
is alsobarred by the unconditional lien waiver that it signed in September 2010. The Court
construes lien waivers under traditional principles of contract interpnet&te Bialowans v.
Minor, 209 Conn. 212, 217, 550 A.2d 637 (1988). “In construing the scope and effect of a
release, the intent manifested by the parties must govern,” and those intentigie“ma
determined by looking at the specific language of the release and siana®s surrounding its

execution."Chorches v. Stewart Title Guar. Cd8 F. Supp. 3d 151, 156 (D. Conn. 2014)

8 Flynn testified that the reason ECI did not submit a written claim to Pigethé July 21 meeting was
that he believed Pike already knew and did not care that ECI was being harnad&6B-70. He also testified that
he simply did not realize the subcontract required written ndticat 779-80. Neither of these things, even if true,
excusathe failure to provide notice as required by Hubcontract to which ECI was bouSéeRestatement
(Second) of Contracts § 12(2) (“A natural person who manifeststassgtransaction has full legal capacity to
incur contractual duties thereby unless he is (a) under guardianshipaari@@nt,or (c) mentally ill or defective,
or (d) intoxicated.”).

27



(internal quotation marks and citation omitteshe also Sakon v. Managéid3 Conn. App. 802,
804, 969 A.2d 781 (2009).

All of ECI’s lien wawersspecifically stated that “[ECI], in consideration of the sum of
[Amount] paid to it by Pike, . . . releases and forever discharges Pike . . . from anlycaitha,
causes of action, suits, debts, sums of money, damages, claims, and demands whatsoever . . .
respecting payment . . . in connection with the Proj&=éePl.’s Ex. 49at 2-9. All of the lien
waiverssubmitted by ECexcept for the September 2010 lien waiver exclude fronréhedse
“any pending change order proposals or requests|,] and any pending requesigdbtes
adjustment to the contract time or amountibfd. | acceptfor the purpose any analysishat
the omission of the exclusionary language in the September lien waiver weyg amer
adminstrative erroby ECI. Bu the lien waiver by its explicit termeleasd Pike from liability.
This is plainly true for the September 2010 waiver that had no reseredtiahts language at
all. Even as to the August 2010 waitleathad reservatiowf-rights language, that wasy did
not preserve ECI’s rights as to costs incurred through July, because ECI hadmatlge
pending change order proposal or request.

As the Connecticut Supreme Court has explainedy“@mbiguity in a contract must
emanate from the language usedhe contract rather than from one pastgubjective
perception of the termm$” Nat'l Grange Mut. Ins. Co. v. Santaniel@90 Conn. 81, 89, 961
A.2d 387 (2009) (quotingulick v. Patrons Mut. Ins. C0287 Conn. 367, 373, 949 A.2d 1084
(2008)).Becatse there is no ambiguity in tlseope of thevritten exclusionaryjtanguagethe
parol evidence rule forbids the use of extraneous evidence “to vary or contratiechibeof
the waiver.See Capp Ind., Inc. v. Schoenhet@4 Conn. App. 101, 112, 932 A.2d 453 (2007). It

is thereforeof no matter whether ECI subjectively believed it could bring a late claim for
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equitable adjustment regardless of the lien waivers, or whether Pike inquired aluainthe
after receiving the August and September lien waibsaus&Cl’'s own languagexplicitly
excluded from the general release only pending requests and not futuf@ Idiresthat ECI's
breachof-contract claimsvith regard to costs incurred through August 28®barred byts
execution othe lien waives in August and September 20%0.

3. ECI Has Failed to Prove a Breach of Contract

ECI argues that Pike cannot invoke the protection of the subcontract’s writte: notic
requirement®ecause it materially breachtee subcontraavhen it mismanagd the pragct by
abandomg the contract schedule and refusing to even consider a time exttndRirase 3-
the basis for ECI's underlying claim in this caBgen if ECI's claims were not precluded by the
notice requirements of theeibcontract or by the liemaivers, they would fail on their merits
because ECI has not established by a preponderance of the evidence thattRike’s ac
constituted a breach of contract.

In order to establish liability for breach of contract, a plaintiff must shguhél

formation of an agreement, Yperformance pursunt to it by one party, {3reach by another

19 This finding is not inconsistent with the Court’s previous ruling denyimyrsary judgment as to the lien
waiver issue. At that pointhere were factual questions regarding the July 21 discussion, wdiitig the facts in
the light most favorable to ECI, allowed for the possibility that a pendigqgest for equitable adjustment might
already have been made before Alugust and September 2010 lien wasrarereexecuted. Now, with the benefit
of the full trial record, the Court concludes that ECI has not establisherishenee of any pending request relating
to the Phase 3 impacts on ECI at the time the relevant lien waivers were esdbmitt

2T the extent that ECI would argue that the oraicecof its claims provided by Clauson to Strauss in
mid-September 2010 constitutes a pending request for equitable adjustthertirae of the September 17 lien
waiver, such argument fails. Strauss’s credible testimony regardihgahversation desbes Clauson as
informing him that ECI would be filing a claim in the future. A statatrabout a future claim does not constitute a
pending requesBee Fid. & Deposit Caf Md, 2015 WL 1444481, at *9. Furthermore, it is doubtful that any such
conversatn took place before the lien waiver was executed on September 17, 2isbrClestified that he
informed Pike “sometime in the middle of September” that ECI “was preparghaim.” Tr. at 30910. Strauss
remembered the conversation as occurring in “middle to early Septettbext”.561. And Oloff acknowledged the
conversation between Clausand Strauss on September 28 via email. Pl.’s Ex. 57. Meanwhile, ECFgipbst
briefing urges the Court to find that a conversation occurred “arountditbeneek of September 2010.” Doc. #136
1 9 57. Allin all, ECI has not established by a prepomueraf the evidence that its oral notice in September of a
future claim constituted a “pending request for equitable adjustméme tontract time or amount” at the time of
the September 2010 lien waiver, so as to preserve the claim from the geleaise of the lien waiverSeePl.’s
Ex. 49 at 29.
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party, and (#damagesSee Hawley Ave. Assocs., LitRobert D. Russo, M.D. & Assocs.
Radiology, P.C.130 Conn. App. 823, 832, 25 A.3d 707 (2QEEEe also NCM Contracting Grp.
LP v. Asset Recovery Grp. LLE014 WL 2480000, at *3 (D. Conn. 2014) (plaintiff bears the
burden to establish each element). There is no dispute that the subcontract betwaed P&e
constituted an agreement, and | will assume for the perpiosiy analysis that EQlerformed
its duties under it, as Pike has not argued that ECI's work constituted a lack ohsalbsta
performanceBut ECI has not proven the remaining two elemerR#e’s breach and ECI's
damages.

Breach

ECIl at various timestyles itsclaim as for “delay,” “compression,” “acceleration,” and/or
“stacking of trades.” See, e.g.Doc. #136 at 10 (“accelerat[ion]”), 12 {ésking of trades”), 23
(“delay[ ]"); Doc. #1364 at 24 (“compress[ion]”). The basiargumenis that ECI believes its
labor costs were unfairly increased because Pike’'s managefitbatproject caused ECI's work
to take longer than it should haftBereby incurring more mamours), and/or forced it toe
compktedunreasonably quicklytifereby ncurring the increased costs associated with the extra
manpower needed on the job), and/or involaadtherwisenefficientwork scheduldthereby
incurring the increased costs associated with lesser productis@@yurgesmeto find that “[b]y
refusingto extend the Schedule end-date, and also requiring ECI to perform ten weeks of
specifically sequenced work in a 4 to 5 week period in an altogether different (andgymbl
sequence of operations, Pike breached the contract.” Doc. #136-2 9.

Based on althe testimony and documents presented at trial, | findlikes tvee no
substantial problems during Phase 3 for which ECI was not affam@dpriateelief. Pike was

not obligated to extend the schedule’s end-date on any more areas than those fowwasich it
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provided extra timéy the City of Norwichand Pike did not breach the contract by declining to
do so on July 21 aatany other timel additionally ind that Pike did not require ECI to perform
its Phase 3 work in a 4- to 5-week, condensed period of titeeparform its services in an
inappropriately jumbled sequence of operations.
Section 3.4 of the subcontract provides:
3.4 Delays  Should the Subcontractor be delayed by the act or omission of the
Contractor or by any other contractor or subcontractor on the Project,amyby
cause beyond the Subcontractor’s control and not due to any fault, act or omission
on its part, then the time for completion of the work shall be extended for a period
equivalent to the time lost by reason of any of the aforesaid causes, asrasterm
by the Contractor, and Subcontractor agrees to make no claim for damages for
delay in the performance of this Subcontract occasioned by any act or ongssion t
act of the Contractor or any of its representatives.
Pl.’s Ex. 13 at 7-8. At the summary judgment stage, the Court found that the “no damages for
delay” clause in this section was inapplicable to the present case. ThedDodrttat there was
no “delay” here because there was never a determination by Pike under this sattimereh
was any “time lost” by reason of the “act[s] or omission[s]” of others anddeut$iECI's
control.SeeDoc. #49 at 12. Furthermore, the Corasoned, even if there were a “delay” under
this section, an extension for the “time lost” would be a condition precedent to ECgjatimili
to refrain from making a claim for damages for delay; therefore, becakeseeRised to provide
an extension when requested by ECI at the July 21 meeting, ECI’s obligation was neve
triggered.See idat 12-13.
Now with the benefit of the full trial record, it is clear that there was at least some
“delay” under this section of the subcontrathe-delay caused lifie structural steel issue in the
art room and locker rooms. The need for the architect and steel subcontractorss® theédre

issue undniablyresulted initially in time losbeforeECI could perform its workin those areas

SeePl.’s Ex. 41 at 11-13ef.’s Ex. 645 at 2—3. And that issue was undisputedly “beyond
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[ECI’'s] control and not due to any fault, act or omission on its"p8eePl.’s Ex. 13 at 7-8; Tr.

at 908-09 (Oloff testified that the issue was neither Pike’s nor ECI's fautinowledgingthis,
Pike extended the time for completion of the work on those ,aasgexjuired by Setion 3.4.To

the extent that ECI'slaimis based on its Phase 3 work within those areas, that portion of the
claim is foreclosed by th“no damages for delay” clagiswhich limits ECI's redress for such
delays to an extension of time and bars ECI from claiming damages.

Moreover, even if Section 3.4 of the subcontract did not foreclose that portion of the
claim, ECI has not established that it suffered any increasstd due to delays those areas
affected by the structural steel issB€I's locker room work actually began months before
Phase 3 was scheduled to be§aePl.’s Ex. 41 at 13comparePl.’s Ex. 17 at 50 (on May 19,
2010,ECI was installing feeders ithe locker areayyith Def.’s Ex. 645 at 3 (electrical activity
was scheduled to begin in the locker area in Jabg alsdlr. at 1014-16And although, per the
extension, the completion date for the locker room was later than origicaégded ECI has
not showrthat thke work involved putting in more labor houhsan anticipatedOn the contrary,
Oloff testified credibly that ECI did not have to spend more time in the locker roonit tha
would have had it not been delayed, and that$t@ply shiftal the datesvhen some of that
work occurred in order to accommodate the installation of the new steel. Tr. at 1(BG6+hd@s
not proven that impact from the structural steel issues and delays to the lockereaom ar
increased its labor costs.

As for theartand storage rooms, it is similarly clear that much of the work began and
ended lagr than originally contemplategeeDef.’s Ex. 645 at 2—-3, and that the duration that
certain tasks were operthat is,the span of time between when thmganand wherthey were

completed—was longer for some tasks than had been originally sched@ledef.’s Ex. 655 at
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1-2 (for examplethe “Electrical Overhead Rough In” task was apparentpyragress for

multiple weeks, when it was scheduled to require less than a Wéekmakes sense: those

tasks were delayed by the structural steel problems, and after Pike recesxtersion from the
City of Norwich for those areait instructed ECI to stop work on those areas and complete them
later.SeeTr. at 100508 (Oloff testimony describing detail how the structural steel delays
affected ECI's work in these areas).

The only question is whether ECI has proven that something about the shift in scheduling
ledto increased labor costs for w®rk, and | conclude that it has nots festified to by Richard
Merkhofer, an independent construction consultant with expertise in CPM schedulingjdbe pe
of time during which certain tasks are in-progress does not provide any intormabbut the
actuallabor hours that ent into the task: for example, it could be that the task was substantially
complete for a long time but waiting for a single finishing touch to end it on the seigedul
program; or it could have been started, stopped for a period of time, and finighe®datr. at
1470-72. Merkhofer testified that, based on his analymsonly areas of the project that
seemed as though they might have been pushed toward the end of the job were the art and
instrumental areaS-Id. at 1475—-76. But he reiterated tHat] hat is importanabout that
concept is that jusiecause work moves to a different area, a different time frame, doesn’t mean
that its going to be less productivighat] the contract was going tee automatically incurring
lossof productivity. Itmeansyou’re doing it at a different time franidd. at 1476 ECI has not
proven that impact from the structural steel issues and delays to the art agel I<tora areas

increased its labor costs.

ZLyInstrumental” is listed as the same area as the art and storage rooms on teel@BiMesSee, e.g.
Def.’s Ex. 645 at 2.
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The only room that was delayed by the structural s¢sekis but not the subject of any
schedule relief waa toilet areawhich was delayed by nine dayg. at 996. This delay affected
ECI and other subcontractotd. at ®7. But the toilet area is not very larggk,at 998, andhere
is no evidence that ECI’s productivity in treaka ever suffered as a result of the delay. On the
contrary, Oloff testified credibly that he did not observe ECI to appear slowed datsn in i
productivity in that area once it began working otditat 1000. According to higstimony,

ECI never complained about impacts in that areengadditional manpower funneled into the
area to complete it on timkaid. | cannot fi that there were any impactstire toilet area for
which Pike can be held responsible.

In addition to he structural steel issues affecting the art and locker room areas, there are a
number of other issues ECI believes caused its work to proceed in a delayed, compressed, or
otherwise inefficient manner, includinigter alia, demolition, masonry, steel supports in
ceilings, access to electrical room and data rooms, unfinished ceilings, dwléheoom roof.
SeeDoc. #136-1 { 3FEClI's complaints about impacts tioe rest of the project during Phase 3
are inconsistent and unsubstantiated. The strongest evidence ECI offers in suigort of
contention that the rest of the project was mismanaged, requiring ECI to dokts\adoo-
short period of tim@r in a senseless sequence, is the set of daily reports written by Mathieu
during the projectSeePl.’s Ex. 17. Those daily reports reflect his ongoing sense that other
subcontractors’ work was behisdheduleand that those workevgere in the areas ECI needed
to be working in, leadiniylathieu to feels though ECI could not do the work it needed to do at
the times it needed to do them.his testimonyMathieu walked through many of thedaily
reports and reviewed a videotape taken of the projedtsite beginning of August 2010,

pointing out problems he had faced oasi
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But Mathieu als@dmittedthat he did not rely on the schedule when determining whether
his complaints were explained by it. For example, Mathieu testified that ECI catudtant any
in-wall roughin work for the Admin area until walls were builbut when asked about any
delays to the construction of the walls, Mathieu testified “I don’t know whenlgxthely were
supposed to be done . . SéeTr. at 613. Andalthough he testified on the basis of the video that
ECI's work was held up because the ceilingd not yet beehuilt for ECI to put lights in, and
that walls had not yet been built lBCI to install fire alarm panels, he also testified that the
ceilingswere not supposed to be done for another two weeks and that that tirfireallgs
close”to when the fire alarnrmstallation wasupposed ttake placeSee d. at580—-81. On July
21, several weeks into Phase 3 and the date of the critical meetingdasjsviathieu noted in
his daily job report that “[a]ll trades are behind in all areB&’S Ex. 17 at 94; Tr. at 538ut
that comment was a gross overstatement, and none of the other trades complained about
significant project delays except for the structural steel issues

A close examination of the original and actual schedules of task completibas that
there were no substantial delays in Phase 3, other than those caused by the steditisslies
and for which relief was provide&Cl seek to rely on Plaintiff's Exhibit 51, an overlay of the
July 11 and September 1 project CPM schedules. That overlay demonstratesdbattaaks

took place later or remained-progress for a longer span of time than originally scheddled.

2 Exhibit 51 describes the scheduled start and finish dates for varsiss$a‘Baseline Start” and
“Baseline Finish.” These baselines appear to refer to the same dates as the daddn&t'Early Finish” labels on
the CPM schedules presented to the C@e€Def.’s Exs. 645, 655. Merkhofer testified about these “early”
baseine dates and noted that they were not fixed points in the schedule:

[MERKHOFERY]. . . . In the CPM schedellwhere this came out of, there’s another set of dates

called late start, late finish. That'the flow function. In other words, what the computesgsiat

says what we want to do is we want to start on an early start, aasly biest case. But it also
gives you another set of dates and said, fine, you can start as latelate #tisrt, late finish. And

if you were to look at these activities imetbaseline schedule, you would see that they could move

out by a week or two or whatever, whatever the note calculation.

THE COURT: With late start, late finish.
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But as discussed above, this information is of limited védeeTr. at1470-74%* And when
looking at the complete picture for the vast majority of tasks, it is clear that mosttatks for
which ECI chims it was hindered took either the samkess time to complete than
contemplated by the scheduBeeDoc. #1391 at 2-3. ECI has not shown how completing these
tasks within or below the duration they were anticipated would have necessifatedieg
more marhours, even if many of these tas&ek place later than expected.

As for the tasks with duratiortbatgreatly exceedethe schedule, ECI has not shown
how, if at all, its labor hours were actually impacted by the longer durations. For example,
“P3M-320 (connect electric to hot wateeaers)” was supposed to take one day to complete.
Doc. #139-1 at 3After it began (eightlays late), it remained unfinished for 45 ddpd. It is
difficult to imagine just how mangdditional labor hours ECI thinksitvorkersexpended on
this presumablysimpletask—certainly notan additional 44lays worth. Similarly, severashort
“electrical rough in” tasks were easbheduled to take three or four days to complete, but
instead remained open for 17 to 34 dagsat 4.Yet ECI has not shown that thosepmgress

durations led to a higher number of man-hours for the rough-in work, eédher.all, ECI has

[MERKHOFERY]: Exactly. ECI and Pike agreed to that schedule prior to starting the 8o@&Cl
knew that some of that work was going to move.

Tr. at 14%-87.
% Merkhofer additionally cautioned the Court about the dangers ofiofegring an increased cost or lost

productivity from an increased duration for a task:
When Pike recorded the actual start and completion dates, you have to Ipecaeeful,
particularly with the comletion dates. Because when yaubut on the site and you see something
start, it's pretty clear, nothing there before, pat still run that risk of, let's say, for instea lets
take this for an example and we see the guy on the ladder and he stants the electrical
conduit up there. And he goes there and we recondalsi starting. But he doesiwome back for
seven days or eight days or nine days and then he starts up again. Then \wue bameetthing on
the end, he gets most of the work done, but he leaves that one littlénpibeecorner out and he
doesnt do that for another three weekdsually the person in the fielltecording the last piece. |
just caution everyone when they look at those outside dates, they mag radkebtive of when
most of the work is done.

Tr. at 147980.
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not provided sufficient evidence to conclude that Pikeésmiagement dhe project and other
subcontractors’ delays led to increased labor costs to ECI during Phase 3.

Oloff testified at great length and painstaking detail as to the work that progressed
through Phase 8lescribingoom-by-room how and why nearly every task on the schedule took
place when it didand what could be inferred from the start and finish dates of thoseSasks.

Tr. at 972-1101l find his testimony credible and extremely compelling, especially asa@up

to the vague and inconsistent accounts offered by ECI's witn&s@es thing Oloff pointed out
that bears adtional emphasis is the number of areas that were available for ECI to work on, but
that ECI did not work on as soon as they were available because of its manpower sihortage
other reasons. Faxample, Oloff testified that ECI did not begin the eleakoverhead rough-

in for the Admin area until July 13, although it had been scheduled to begin on July 9, and the
prerequisite demolition had been substantially complete by July 1 and 100% comekg Gy
Seed. at 977-79Similarly, Oloff testified that nothing prevented ECI from doing its electrical
devicing in the Admin area (a task that was scheduled for JuBB22+t any time after the

drywall was completéuly 16), instead of performing the short task over a long stretch of time
betveen July 31 and August 1t. at 984 seeDef.’s Ex. 645 at 1. And although many of ECI’s
tasks did not finislexactlyon time, this was not necessarlylikely because another trade was

holding up ECI’s ability to workSee, e.g.Tr. at980-81 Qloff testimony that electrical control

% For example, Flynn testified that “there was no rhyme or reason toabenry contractos' work. If you
went to the schedule, there was a sequencing of work thatovaging followed.” Tr. At 61. Clauson agreed and
went even further. When asked about the masonry work, he testifieghibtting followed sequence of the
schedule.ld. at 283 Asked again: “Nothing followa the sequence?,” he answered “Nbitl. And then when
asked specifically about whether the masonry work followed the sieltksequence, he again answered “Nioid.
But Mathieu testified that the masons were betivedschedule but still building the walls in sequehteat 512
13. Meanwhile, the schedule shows that masonry in the gym, for exacflally started well ahead of schedule
and was fully completed only one day l&8eeDef.’s Ex. 645 at 4 (“Build N& CMU Partition” task in the gym
was scheduled to run from July 8 through July 12, and instead ran from Juneu2® thuty 13). Masonry is one of
numerous examples of such inconsistent or inaccurate accounts amyifEEsses.
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wiring in the Admin area may have finished late because ECI pulled laborers awahisdask
for some timeand the late completion date did not indicate that ECI was being impaired), 1027—
29 Oloff testimony thatn the gym,no othertradés work preventedCI from performing its
wall rough-in work so as to explain its fiéy delay in completion; all prerequisite tasks had
been completecand ECI had begun this work aheadiwie), 1084-85 (Oloff testimony that he
sawno issues that impacted ECI and should have prevented it from completing cednacaf
work in a shorter duration of time).

Furthermore, Oloff pointed out areas in which it would not make sense to infer that ECI
had increased its labor hours to perform a task, even if those tasks began or entled, latg.
id. at 1310-43 Qloff testimony that itvould not have been possilitefit more than two people
in a small electrical roorto performcertain work involving mounting electrical panels, so it
could not have been possibledppreciably increasthe labor hours to perforthatwork by
adding more workejsAnd because items were not marked as completihe schedulentil
every lastit of thework was 100% complete, it may well have been that much of ECI's work
was substantially complete earlier than indicated by the scheB8eled. at 904-05see alsp
e.g, id. at 1029.

| additionally rely on the expert testimony and report prepared by Merkhdfer, w
analyzed Pike’'s CPM schedules and the daily field reports. Based on his analyeisldned
the following expert opinion:

WHI's analysis concludes that in timeajority of Phase 3 work areas, the actual

installation of Pike’s and ECI's woretid not differ significantly from how Pike

and ECI planned their work. Inamall percentage of the Phase 3 work areas that

showed some delay, the impact was at most one (1) to two (2) weeks. Therefore,

WHI believes thaft] his type of impact would not yield the magnitude of loss of
productivity damages alleged by ECI.

38



Def.’s Ex. 648 at @emphasis in original)n particular, according to Merkhofer, the only areas
that were significantly pushed toward the end of the job were the art and estaliares—for

which relief was grante&eelr. at 1476 Merkhofer's analyseseverely undermineClI’s

argument that its work was disproportionately pushed into the latter portion of Phase 3 dand tha
was forced to complete all of Phase 3 in #045week winadw.

His analysisof ECI's payment requisitions showed that as of the end of July 2[uB0—
under five weeks into Phase 3—ECI had completed (or at least requisitioned) 45% ofét8 Pha
work. SeeDef.’s Ex. 648 at 7; Tr. at 1477—78. To be clear, thaans that ECI claimeduring
the course of the project, to have completed just under half of its Phase 3 work in just linder ha
of the time scheduled for PhaseSamilarly, Merkhofer'sanalysis of the originachedulesersus
the asbuilt breakdown did not show disproportionate amounts of ECI's work clustered in the
latter partof the projectld. at 1478-79 (referring to Pl.’'s Ex. 51 and Def.’s Ex. 655). In light of
these findings, | cannatreditECI’'s contention that its work was significantly deldyand
ultimately performed in a shorter period of time at the end of Phase 3.

Finally, every norparty witness testifiethat Phase 3 work proceeded generatily
schedule, with the exception of noted delays resulting from the steel issues tfinbteusnental
and locker room areaBor examplel.ynch testified that if there were delays in demolition as
claimed by ECI, it would have affected all trades, not only ECI. Def.’s Ex. 661 at 13, 20e-21.
also noted that there were some slight delays involving the masons at the venynigeaf the
project (not Phase 3), but that they “definitely pushed the project once they got therkey. . . T

did a very good job and they pushed the projedt.at 16

% He additionally tetified that there were no issues with the data room or electrical roontiwhesn
electrical room that was moved from one floor to anetfeetask which he testified did not add any work to ECI.
Def.’s Ex. 661 at 1920.
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VincentSavino, on behalf of the HVAC subcontractation Air, remembered the steel
issues in the art and locker rooms, but testified that his company experienced/amdélee
project, despite the fact that Action Air was working in the same area of thgsaBrECivas
Tr. at 1176—77. He testifiethat Action Air received no complaints from its plumbing
subcontractor with regard to scheduling, eitlheérat 1177.

Carroll Lawler, the projdts architect, attended two foremen meetings and was so happy
with how Phase @/as proceeding that he brougjninders, coffee, and doughnuts to all 150
workerson the jobld. at 1195. In fact, according to Lawler, he spoke with Mathieu onsite when
he visited, and Mathieu never described any delays; the only cotnidlaihieu allegedly made
was “[bJoy, as an ahitect, you sure made the lighting in this auditorium complicatdddt
1197.Lawler mentioned the structural steel delays and “some other minor, mings’'dela
involving the steel supports for the roof handling units and millwork, but testified thabhone
those other delays were significalat. at 1198-99, 1201.

Lawler and subcontractors other than E@fe impressed with Pike and especially with
Oloff. Lawler wrote on his regular project “report cards” that “Ed Oloff is onb@best supers
| have worked w/ in 30 years—he is presently in thettop tryingto be #1,” Def.’s Ex. 532 at
1, and “Ed Oloff is the best super | have worked with in my careger40 years,id. at 9. He
even wrote a note on the back of one of his report gaedsing Oldf: “S cheduling—fantastic. .

. Ability to coordinate subcontractors—extraordinary.He.looks way aheadIt. at 10%°

Lynch praised Oloff as wednd noted that “a lot of people looked up to Ed and Ed helped out a

% Others who filled out these ‘pert cards” had similarly glowing reviewSee, e.gDef.’s Ex. 532 at 2
(Charles Jaskewicz on behalf of the Norwich City Board of Educatiotewlnat “[t]he project is ahead of schedule
and under budget. The Pike team does not look to be complacgrdaréteways looking to be more efficient + cost
effective.”), 3, 5 (one reviewer affixed a smiley face sticker and describedhherself as “a passionate Piker”), 7
(Jaskewicz praised Pike’s “[p]Jrogressive thinking”), 12 (Jaskewitzdhthat “[t]he timeline is ahead of schedule”
and praisedPike’s “timeline management”).
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lot of people. He helped out ECI quite a bit.” Def.’s Ex. 661 at 16. Savino described it as the
only job he could remember never “bumping heads” or experiencing delays, and desasbed i
“one of the better jobs I've ever been on as far as managemerat’ Tr81-82.

When Savino learned that ECI had filed a claim in this case, he “was very surprised”
because he “[didn’t] remember people being upset with the job. We finished on time. We
finished ahead of schedule,” so he was “a little taken aback that there was anydanch of
against [Pike].d. at 1183. Gary Schnip, the owner’s representative on the job, who had himself
lost out on his bid for this project in favor of Pike the contractotestified through his
deposition thaOloff “is as good a querintendent as I've seen in . . . the industry, and I've been
in construction for forty years. So he—he’s very go@kéDef.’'s Ex. 660 (Schnip Dep.) at 24.
According to SchnipQloff “was always two or three weeks ahead of what [the field foremen]
weredoing. . . . He had them all organized and scheduled so they all moved in unison through
the job. . . "Ibid. Even Mathieu apparently told Lynch and Lawler that Obedf the best
project manager he had ever worked with. Tr. at 622. Ultimately, no suactontexcept for
ECI ever filed any claim against Pike in connection with the Kelly Middle &gbroject.

Based on the sum tfie evidencgl conclude thaPhase 3ook place generally as
schedulednd that the areas where a task was not completed on time were not necessarily the
result of another trade holding up ECI’'s work or of Pike’'s mismanagement of tltikchie
the extent that the schedule was modibedr the course of Phase 3, | find that such
modifications fell withinPike’s authority uner Section 3.1 of the subcontract, which notes that
Pike “shall have the right to modify the construction schedule, to suspend, delay eraecel
whole or in part, the commencement or execution of Subcontractor’'s Work, or vary the sequenc

thereof, without compensation to the Subcontratexcept to the extent that the time for
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completion needs to be extend8eaePl.’s Ex. 13 at 7. | therefore conclude that ECI has not met
its burden to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Pike breached theastibgontr
obstructing ECI’s ability to complete its work, Bipandoning the scheduls,by declining to
grant arextension otime for work other than the art room, locker room, and storage room
areas’’

Damages

| additionally conclude thd&Cl hasnot sufficiently established its damages to prevail on
its breachof-contract claimECI seeks damages in the sum of $567,268.70. This figure is
derived from ECI’'s overruns of 4,930.27 man-hours for its own labor plus 2,033.5 maridnours
its subcontract@’ labor, at the labor rate of $81.46 per hdurese mafhoursthemselves are
the “overruns forall of the Phase 3 workh thefive categories of work that E@llegeswere
affected by Phase 3 problems (branch conduit, branch wire, branch finish, fixturesstants}y
but not for other items of work (such as feeder conduit and feeder wire), as compharee wi
bid estimates for those categori€seDoc. #136 at 12 (emphasis in original). ECI's damages

calculation is deeply flawed and @iether inadequate to meet its burden.

2" ECI makes one more claim regarding Pike’s scheduling, which isittetéfused to distribute updated
schedules over the course of Phase 3 and never made those schedules avdlididenstant lawsuit. It is
undisputed that Pike regularly updated the CPM schedules to track tihegsro§the job and also prepared-tte
threeweek “lookahead” schedules to guide the skertn tasks that needed to get done. A wealth of testm
indicates that those updated full schedules as well as shorter rangatiead” schedules were available during
every weekly meeting during the project. Oloff testified expliditl making them both available at the meetings.
SeeTr. at 1132. Strassand Savino testified to the availability of the ledtead schedulekl. at 1175 (Sawno’s
testimony), 1512 (Strauss’s testimorigyen Mathieu conceded that the schedules were made avditalaie522
(“They did have some schedules, but thdyneve — | didn't take them out in the field with me or anything.”), 598
(updated schedules were available, but Mathieu focused on thed®lolook ahead schedulesnd even Clauson,
who initially testified that no updated CPM schedules were ever isssebldontractorsid. at 248, later testified
that twoweek lookahead schedules on a whiteboard were discussed but with no relatierCfeNhschedulad. at
29192, and eventually testified that the lcakead schedules were available in writing on th& bathe meeting
minutes,id. at 376. Clauson'’s testimony with regard to scheduling was dhni@aonsistent: he testified both that
it was “pretty difficult” to manage without an updated schedblid,, and that he personally “didn’t need the
schedule . . to figure out what [he] had to ddd. at 377. He was sure that Pike did not follow the original
schedule, but did not know whether Pike was following their updatestisle Ibid. Only Flynn consistently
insisted that no updated schedules were eagte available to the subcontract@se id at 65758. Having
considered all the testimony on the matter, | find that Pike adequatalneddahe subcontractors of its updated
schedule over the course of Phase 3.
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A subcontractor claiming compensation from a general contractoo$bioverruns
“must establish the extent to which its costs were increased by [the consjaatproper acts
because its recovery will be limited to damagesially sustained.Wolff & Munier, Inc. v
Whiting- Turner Contracting C9.946 F.2d 1003, 1010 (2d Cir. 1991) (emphasis in original)
(internal quotation marks and citation omitté@enerally,[p]roof of damages should be
established with reasonable certainty and not speculatively and probkdindtMeadowbrook
Ctr., Inc.v. Buchman149 Conn. App. 177, 189, 90 A.3d 219 (20@dderation in original)
(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Although “the quantum of proof required is
relaxed in instances involving the wrongful breach of a contract by the defendaint,” tha
relaxation is limied to instances in which “the defendant by his own wrong has prevented a
more precise computatidh See bid. (quotingBigelow v. RKO Radio Pictures, In827 U.S.
251, 264 (1946)). And “[e]ven under a more relaxed standard, the plaintiff must fsonigh
proof that the breach caused the damages of which it complains . . theatréhl courimust
have evidencby which it can calculate the damages, which is not merely subjective or
speculativé” Id. at 191(emphasis in original)guotingBronson &Townsend Co. v. Battistgni
167 Conn. 321, 326-27, 355 A.2d 299 (1974)).

ECI has failed to present sufficient evidence of causatitimeipresent case between the
alleged delays and mistakes made by Pike and the damages ECI seeks. For da€lking
claim emphatically includes compensation for work performed throughout Bhdsam late
April throughat leastate September 2010 and possibly October 28&@Doc. #136 at 31
(describing the claims as including work from late April through late SdpEef010); Tr. at
1230 (ECI's counsel stated that the claims included compensation for the “considerable

of work done” by ECI on Phase 3 “prior to June 28” andseptembeand October.”). But ECI
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has presented almost no evidence of any problems on the job that occurred outside afithe peri
including late June through August 2010, and even ECI’s counsel admitted that “[ifhe ma
points of impact . . . were during that period.” Tr. at 1230. In particular, any labor ovéaruns
work done on Phase 3 prior to the official start of Phase 3 on June 28 is senselebsiti® tattri

Pike in aclaim that Pike delayed, accelerated, and comedette schedule for Phase 3 work.

On this basis, Pike’s expert withess Dennis O’Neill declined to analgaeECI performed

outside of the June 28 through September 4, 2010 pédicat. 1225-26But ECI nevertheless
insists on including those hours in its claim.

In addition to including cost®r Phase 3 work undertaken outside of the period of
alleged impact, ECI's damages improperly incladsts fomonPhase3 work performed during
the period of alleged impact. Although ECI's claim is for Phase 3 impacts@iNgill’'s
analysis of Mathieu’s diy and weekly reports during the June 28 through September 4 period
indicates that ECI workers workeak leas®,028 hour®on work forphase®ther than Phase 3
during that period. ECI argues that Mathieu carefully culled from his reportscahase 3
work, seeid. at 1392 however| am persuaded b®’Neill’s testimony that as he combed
through those reports himself, he independently determined what was and was n8twAbrkse
see idat 1275, and otherwise resolved any ambiguities in favor of asguaaborer was
working on Phase 3ee id.at 1281.

As such, | find that ECI's claim includes hours for work done outside of the allegedly
impacted period (which therefore cannot be traced back to Pike’s alleged mistakgdthase
3) and hours for work done on non-Phase 3 portions of the project (which also cannot be traced
backto Pike’s alleged Phase 3 failures, and which ECI denies are included innt} clai

Moreover,ECI’s restriction of its claim tthefive listed categories of work is not kad
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in any way with issues attributable to Pike with regar8@'s work in those categorieBCI
does not even attempt to break down its hours in those categories of work to show which were
undertaken during the impacted period of the proRather, itseems ECI merely selected the
five categories of work in Phase 3 for which its actual labor ¢@gipened to excedd bid
estimates: branch conduit, branch wire, branch finish, fixtures, and sySteef®$.’s Ex. 43 at 3.
ECloverestimateds labor osts for the other categories of work in the phase—feeder conduit,
feeder wire, demolition, and geabut declined to adjust its claidownward to account for any
net savings, proceeding presumably under the theory that Pike is responsibée ity that
went awry for ECI during Phase 3, but not for anything that went better thapat&ciVere
ECI to take into account the labor costs for which it overestimated as wedlsesfor which it
underestimated at bidime, its Phase 3 labor overrun wotle considerably lower:;, 844 man-
hours.See ibid.

Additionally, ECI made no adjustments to its damages calculation for any ofrits ow
inefficiencies, arguing that “ECI was not inefficient in performing thade 3 work.” Doc. #136
at 12. But as described above, there is ample evidence from Oloff and other withatS€l
did not pursue its work ian efficient manneithere were supervision issues, manpower issues,
and numerous instances in which ECI had work available to it that it did not perform. Even
Clauson admitted in his milugust 2010 job performance review form that there was “[a] lot of
time wasted due to lack of supervision.” Pl.’s Ex. 35 attlig.impossible for the Court to
determine exactly how many maours should be deducted from ECI’s claim on the basis of its
own productivity issues.

Not only is the number of man-hoursi&I's claim suspect, but the choice of labor rate

was unreasonably high. A rate of $81.46 per hour is simply not suppatablmeasure of
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ECI'sactualdamages-its actual increased costs as a result of Pike’s alleged breach. That rate
wasbased on a rate for journeymen that Pike had agreed to for some change orders. Tr. at 349—
50; see also, e.gPl.’s Ex. 44 at 5. It was significantly higher than the journeyman rate listed on
other change orders. Tr. at 735—-36. More importantly, the alleged additional maimpmwed

in this case was never subjecttoy change orders, as far as the record shows. And while that
rate allegedly fell roughly midwabetween some of ECI’s rates for journeymen and foremen, at
most, foremen hours constituted only 18% ofttital ECI marhours for the portion of Phase 3
between June 8 and SeptembeBdeDoc. #136 at 24According to O’Neill’'s analysis of the
certified payrolls submitted by ECI for the project, the actual journeyman rate pabb&a$

per hourSeeDef.’s Ex. 656 at 6. Adding 11% for labor burden and 15% for overhead and profit,
O’Neill opined that the highest justifiable rate would be $7p&%our, but noted that all of

ECI's subcontractors for its additional labor were actually paid lesstiaatbid.

When the Court askedt trialif there was any evidence ofvhat the compangctually
spentas opposed to what it would havetga if it hadbeen able to charge all these extra hours
as a change ordé Flynn was unable to answ&eeTr. at 785. In fact, when asked whether the
actual cost for the additional mdwours was in the record, and whether Flynn could tell the
Court the amount, Flynn responded that he did not know and could not tell thellddurt.

Nothing the Court has seen in the record has allowed it to determine that actual cost

But most importantlyECI's baseline for determininigs labor overruns-its estimated
hours for Phas® at the time of its bid for the jebis deeply unreliable-or one thing, an
examination of the estimated versus actual hours incurred for each phase of tequeps
that ECI's bid labor hours were not borne out in other phases, either. For Pfaassxample,

ECI's bid was 9,312 hours, and it actually required 13,118 hours—a 41% increase. Pl.’s Ex. 43
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at 3 Tr. at 1346-47. For Phase 4 West, ECI's bid was 2,915 hours, and it actually required 3,795
hours—a 30% increas&seeP|.’s Ex. 43 at 3In contrag, for Phase 4 East, ECI overestimatied
estimated 2,474 hours but required only 794.5 hoar68% decrease&ee Ibid. And for the site
work on the job, ECbverestimatedby even more: & bid estimated 939 hours, and it required
only 143 hours—anenormous85% decreasé&ee Iid. In this context, the Phase 3 net overrun
of 3,844 hours, or a 43% deviation, does not seem out of place.

Thesediscrepancies were specifically apparent with regarddst ofthe categories of
work for which ECI claims it is entitled to damagEsr example, ECI'®hase 2abor estimates
for branch conduit, branchire, and fixtures were underestimated15% to 21%its estimate
for branch finishwvas overestimately 27%.Seebid. More dramaticallyin Phase 4 West, ECI
underestimateds branch conduit, branch wire, branch finish, fixtures, and systems labor hours
by 14% to 95%; for Phase 4 East, ECI'sr@gtimated its branch wire, fixtures, and systems
labor hours by 95% t88%2®

O’Neill, noting these discrepanciesated that thegrovided support for an inference that
ECI's Phase ®aseline bid was off. Tr. at 1347-48. Clauson testified that Phaseaksbad
suffered from delays, for which ECI did not seek relgdeid. at 458 Flynn similarly testified
that alllabor overruns outside of Phase 3 were due to Pike’s mismanagement of theigdraject,
781, but that ECI chose to focus its claim on Phase 3 because it “decided that one battle was
enough,”id. at 784%° This Court has not been presented evidence to make any findings with

regard to Pike’s management of phases dtiar Phase,dut it is clear thaECI's labor hour

B ECI, in its postrial reply brief, agues that when Phase 4 East and Phase 4 West are added together,
there was no net mamour overrun for any category of woi&eeDoc. #138 at 9. Tie misses the point. The Coist
not concerned with ECI’s net loss or gais.dbncern is that ECI’'s bigstimates were well out of alignment for
other phases and not just Phase 3, which casts significant doubt on thétiproghed problems specific to Phase 3
(let alone attributable to Pike’s actions during Phase 3) account for &@¥euns.

2 Flynn catfidently laidthe blame at Pike’s feet for all labor overruns outside of Phase 3, despitet
that according to Flynn’s own testimony, his first involvement in th@ptavas in early July 2010, during Phase 3.
SeeTr. at 640.
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estimates at bitime for multiple phases of the project proved to be wildlytb&# markfrom the
actual labor hours expendedaking it difficult to assume without more that the Phalsiel3
time estimate was accuraitethe first instance

Nor does a comparison with the other bids for the project help ECI establisketjrédy
or reasonablenesy its bid. Six companiegriginally bid for the electrical subcontra8eePl.’s
Ex. 9 at 8 The lowesinitial bid, a $2.8 million bid from T&T Electrical Contractors, Inc., was
made in error and withdrawn. The next lowest was from Ferguson Electric C@h#did, at
approximately $3.9 millionwas very close to ECI'kid but was rejected in large part because
Ferguson did not seem to understand the strenuous requirements that Phase 3 wdae pose.
Tr. at 924. The next was ECI's bil Above ECI’s bid were bidsom Bloomfield Eletric Co.
for $4.7 million,from Professional Electrical Contractors@f for $5.3 million, androm
Kennedy Electrical Contractors, Inc. for $5.6 million. ECI's bid preparer (Mgdestified that
he knew of no problems with the three bids higher than ECI’s, and the Court has been presented
with no other evidence that those bids were unreasortaéxdai. at 183.So the only legitimate
bid lower than ECI's was disqualified in part because Pike worried about the coswplaitity
to manage Phase 3, and three other companies without known problems in their bids requested
one to two million dollars more than ECI to do the job. This is highly suggestive that ECI
underbid the job.

Furthermore, a breadth of evidence revealsrgih@blems with ECI’s bid. As Clauson
noted in several job performance review forms, there was no project managbutinmto the
bid. See idat 185 (Madore confirmed as much). And he revealed in his mid-August 2010 job

performance review forrthat tre fixture labor units in the biere “way, way off what it's

%9ECI's base bid of $3,496,000 plus alternatives totaling $453,798 are listed dsitofs$3.949.798,
seePl.’s Ex. 9 at 49, but ECI's accepted total bid, including the base and accepted altesnatas $3,637,445.
Seeidat 2; Tr. at 171.
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taking in the field.” Pl.’s Ex. 35 at 1®loreover, Madore testified that he had predicted crew
sizes of 30 to 35 men during the whole summer. Tr. at 111-12. But as of July there were only
aboutl7 to 18 electricians per creld. at 274 And because Madorelidn’t feel that we were

going to be required to do a sevdaysa-week schedule,” he did not factor into ECI's bid the
additional premium cost of labor for such a schedule, which was ultimatelyeedieeid. at

154-55. Assuming 32.5 laborers per day (the middle of Madore’s 30 to 35 assumption) working
8 hours a day, 5 days a week (as contemplated by Madore) for wexk8 of Phase 3,

Madore’shid estimate should yiel@3,000 man-hours, rather than the approximately hHt®
hoursactuallyin the bid,a differenceof 5,400 man-hours. ECI’'s claim is for 6,963.77 man-

hours.

Similarly, Mathieutestified that he initiallfhought there would be 20 to 25 men working
onthebeginning of Phase 3, on a six-dagrweek scheduléseed. at 501, 530. Assuming 22.5
laborers per daylfe middle ofMathieu’s 20 to 25 assumption) working 8 hours a day, 6 days a
week for 10 weeks, Mathieu’s personal estimate should yield 10,800 onasi-ktill 3200 more
marthours than were in the bid and close to ECI's net Phase 3 overrun of 3,844 man-hours.

Pike’s expert witnesses O’Ne(lts construction expert) and David Capfits expert
estimator)agreed that EGdeverelyunderestimated thalbor hours for Phase 3 in its b@'Neill
noted that the bid had neglected to include supervision, overtime, shift work, off-hour work,
labor burdenindirect laboror profit, and had included very littleverheadSeed. at 1338,
1359-65 see alsdef.’s Ex. 656 at 8! He further noted that ECI had made no adjustments to
its bid to account for what ECI knew to be difficult work conditions during Phase 3. Tr. at 1366—

68. Caprio, the chief estimator for a Massachusetts electrical contractingogwasprovided

3LECI offered some evidenckat it intended to make its profit through cost savings on the materials it
used.
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the project plans and specifications and asked for a sesphaate of the mahours required for
Phase 3to provide to O’Neill for his expereport Id. at 1246Based on what seematltrialto

be a very quick, almost back-of-a-napkin lookhee project, Caprio estimated that an appropriate
bid would include 10,34/anhours in Phase JeeDef.’s Ex. 649 at 5; Def.’s Ex. 648-at 2

Tr. at822. Although thevalue of Caprio’s estimate Bghly questionable imanyrespectge.g,

that Capro provided no documents showing how hd halculated the quantity of materials he
had used as the biasfor his marhour estimate, and he did not perform a complete ktid bu
merely an isolated “gut chetbf the Phase 3 mamours,seeTr. at 885)thatCaprio’snumbers
considerably higher than ECI's actual estimate is consistent with ilgatved other evidence on
the matter.

Lastly, | cannot ignore Clausorj@b performance review formm August 2010, which
statedthat the estimating department Haghor[ed] the project schedules at bid time and
provid[ed] an estimate that’'s going to cost the company huge amounts oSedB|’s Ex. 35
at 17.Needless to say, it is telling that ECI's senior project manager for the Meltjle School
project hinself believed that ECI's bitime estimate was inaccurate enough to cause huge losses
to ECI.

Based on all oévidence submitted at tris¢garding the mattefr conclude that ECI's
baseline of its actual bid estimates for Btease 3abor hours in thelkegedly impacted areas of
work is not a reliable starting point from which to determine its actual danfragesny
mistakes made by PIkECI has failed to show that its bid was reliable or reasonable.

ECI's claim boils down to what is known as a “tatakt” or “global cost” claim, in

which it takes itsallegedtotal Phase 3 labor costs for five types of work, subtracts its bid
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estimates for those costs, and seeks the difference as its dafiBigissapprach is somewhat
disfavored as a means to reliblemonstrate damages resulting from onsite delays or loss of
productivity.See, e.g.J. Wm. Foley, Inc. v. United llluminating C@013 WL 5422454, at *16
(Conn. Super. Ct. 2018 alculating a total delay period and assigning responsibility to the
defendant is “insufficient and of virtually no value€f; Catel, Inc. v. United State2012 WL
3104366, at *34 (Fed. Cl. 201@n approach that “simply takes the original and extended
completion dates, computes therefrom the intervening time or overrun, points to a host of
individual delay incidents for which defendant was allegedly responsible and which
‘contributed’ to the overall extended time, and then leaps to the conclusidhdlentire

overrun time was attributable to defendant” is insufficient to demonstratisaxe delay
because such theory “assumes thafdb&ndant] is responsible fall of the delay (some
internal quotation marks and citatiomsitted));Morganti Nat'l v. United State<l9 Fed. Cl.

110, 134 (2001) (“Although Mr. McDonough purported to compare Morgaasbuilt
performance against Morgargtiasplanned . . . schedule, his analysis is in esseno¢ah timée
approach, which is of virtually no value. . . . The ‘total time’ approach to proving delay is as
unsatisfactory as the ‘total cost’ method of proving damages, because it asisantikee
[defendant] is responsible for all of the delay.” (some internal quotation markgatrahe

omitted))3 But it is not prohibited as a method of calculating damages, and in fact can be relied

32 Although ECI is emphatic that it “assuredly has not simply taken its taipqp costs, deducted the bid
price, and claimed the rest as damages,” Doc. #136 at 35, the record doe<ate thdt ECI has done a great deal
more than that to support its claimed damages. The only differenet EGhhas taken not its total project costs
but its total Phase 3 project costs for five categories of work, andtiémractedhe bid estimate labor hours for
thosecategoriesand claimed the rest as damages (notably while using a far higherdtbtiran it actually paid for
those additional labor hours). As ECI's counsel explained, “[t]lailzion is how many hours did® do in Phase
3 broken down into the affected code[s] for entire Phase 3, how does thatedoniee bid?” Tr. at 1231. |
additionally rely on Merkhofer’s expert opinion that ECI’s claim dugtbe considered and analyzed as a total cost
claim. SeeDef.’s Ex. 648 at 5.

3 A preferred methodology is the “measured mile,” approach, about whicthbferkestified SeeDef.’s
Ex. 648 at 56; Tr. at 145861. “Measured mile” analysis woukkaminean unimpacted area (or timeframe on a
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upon under factual circumstances in which a plaintiff sufficiently supportsita @ith proof of
a connection between a contractor’'s wrongs and the resulting damages to a sttbc@ds
e.g, Paragon Constr. Co. v. Dep’t of Pub. WaorkR913 WL 1943953, at *6 (Conn. Super. Ct.
2013) (total cost analysis was sufficient to establish damages where theookfaimed for
was the deleading and painting of windowss it was “fair to attribute all of the extra costs
incurred by [the subcontractor] to the extra deleading responsibilities imposieel by
[defendant]); see alsdE.E. Cruz vCoastal Caisson, Corp346 F. App’x 717, 719-20 (2d Cir.
2009).

The FederaCircuit has admonished that “[a] trial court must use the total cost method
with caution and as a last resort” becaysgnter this method, bidding inaccuracies can
unjustifiably reduce the contractor’s estimated costs. Moreover, perfoenaefticiencies can
inflate a contractor’s costs. These inaccuracies can thus skew accurate compéidaimages.”
Servidone Caostr. Corp. v. U.S.931 F.2d 860, 861-62 (Fed. Cir. 1991). According to that
Circuit's caselaw, a subcontractor claiming damages undeotiflecost method would have to
show: (1) the impracticability of proving actual losses directly; (2) the reasemass of its bid;
(3) the reasonableness of its actual costs; and (4) lack of responsibilitg ftded costsld. at
861. The court may also make such modifications as necessary to the total costtcmmputa
including by accounting for bidding inaccuracies, in orddraatisfied that the “[damages]
figure fairly represented the increased costs the contractor directyesiffom theparticular
action of defendant which was the subject of the compldohtét 862 (internal quotation marks

and citation omitted).

project) with an impactedrea and compare mdnours for the same or analogous work over the same span of time,
in order to calculate the productivity difference between the two dceat.1458. The analysis would still require

the additional step of establishing that the canfsbe lost productivity is attributable to the general contractor (or
whoever the claim might be againdt). at 1459-60. Neither party has undertaken such analysis in this case.
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ECI has nofulfilledthose requirements. For the reasons stated above, even assuming
that it would be impractical or impsible for it to prove its actual losses directly, ECI has not
established that its bid was reasonable, that its actual costs were regsamalthat it played no
role in any of its added costs. The bid neglected to account for numerous consideratwas and
inaccurate for multiple phases of the project.

The Court cannot help ECI overcome its shortfalls in establishing its darbgges
modifying its total cost analysigither Although I might hypothesiza new initial baselinat
would not be cleafor example how many of those baseline hours to subtract for work
anticipated to occuvutside the impacted period. Nor would it be clear how to modify the actual,
as opposed to estimated, labor hours. | could deduct 2,028 hours from ECI's claim for work on
phases outside of Phase 3 during the impacted period, and | could lower the labor rate to $71.69
or lower, but | have no information regarding the number of hours to deduct for work done
before and after the impacted period, and | could not teopeke reliable adjustments to
account folECI's unquantifiednefficiencies or otherwise isolate the damages caused by Pike’s
alleged mismanagement of Phase 3.

| find that ECI has ot met its burden to establish what damages, if angctually
sustaned’ as a result ofhe actions for which it contends Pike should be held li&#e. Wolff &
Munier, Inc, 946 F.2d at 1010 (emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted) ECI's claimed damages are not sufficiently tied to thegaitl impacts during Phase 3,
and the Court does not have sufficient evidence in the record from which itcadeithte any
appropriate damages itself, without relying inappropriately on “meudljestive or speculative”
conjectureMeadowbrook Citr., In¢.149 Conn. App. at 191 (internal quotation marks and

citation omitted).
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CONCLUSION

| conclude that ECI has nheatisfied its burden to prowy a preponderance of the
evidence that Pike breacht@ contract. ECI’'s claims are barred by the terms of the contract
itself for failureof ECI to provide proper noticef its claimand by the lien waiverthatECI
executedo releaseny nonpending claims against Pikéven if the claims were nsb barred,
ECI has failed to provigs breachof-contract claim®n the meritsThere is insufficient evidence
to conclude thaPike mismanaged the project, impermissibly delayed, accelerated, or
compressed ECI's work, or otherwise breached its duties timeleontract, andeCI has failed
to prove its alleged damages to a reasonable degree of certainty. Accordinghgnudbdl
enter in favor of defendant Pike, aB@1's motiors for prejudgment remedipocs. #54, #62)
aredeniedas moot.

It is so ordered.

Dated at Bridgeport this 29ttay ofMay 2015.

[s/ Jeffrey Alker Meyer

Jeffrey Aker Meyer
United States District Judge
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